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Discovering Treasures

For centuries, the prairie landscape has been ripe with treasures, 
producing extraordinary wild lilies that bloom with the radiance  
of jewels.

Golden Opportunities Fund continues to discover prairie treasures that 
are ready to flourish, as promising businesses emerge with underlying 
value and potential. With the Fund’s support and investment, these 
businesses are able to thrive and grow to their full potential.

Today, the wild lilies persevere throughout the Prairies, symbolizing 
growth, resilience and the promise of more treasures to be discovered 
as Golden Opportunities Fund proudly leads the way.
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Message froM fund ManageMent

“ 2010 was another strong year for Golden Opportunities Fund. I am 
pleased to provide this update on the Fund’s achievements and to share 
with you how the momentum generated in 2010 will drive results in 2011.”

– Grant Kook 
President & CEO

to ouR VAlued ShAReholdeRS:
As economies around the world continue to take corrective measures to address the worst 
global financial crisis experienced in decades, our neighbours to the south are debating 
whether the slow economic recovery is a result of a potential “double dip”, or if they face  
a long, single lull in the U.S. economy. Indicators suggest that the U.S. economy will 
continue a slow and steady growth path despite the frail state of consumer confidence 
and a soft labour and housing market. In Canada, the picture is much better with 
the Conference Board of Canada projecting 3.0% GDP growth in 2010 and 
2.5% in 2011. The positive outlook of a complete global recovery for Canada 
is supported by a rebound in the auto industry in Ontario and a promising 
outlook in developing countries such as China and India, who rely on Canada’s 
valuable resources.

Prairie residents have good reason to be the most optimistic in the country  
about the current Canadian economy, with nearly 78% rating the economy as 
“good”, given that Saskatchewan is expected to lead the nation with GDP growth 
of 6.3% in 2010 and 4.8% in 2011 according to RBC’s Economic Outlook report.

Dare to Lead
This simple macro view of what has transpired in the global economy reconfirms 
that if you Dare to Lead, immeasurable long-term results can be achieved. The idea 
to design and launch Golden Opportunities Fund to invest in regional opportunities, 
stemming the outflow of valuable capital to North American markets, aligns more 
now than ever with investing in the most prosperous and stable economy in North 
America, here at home, where we live and do business. Your Fund prides itself on 
being based on fundamentals and principles that distinguish us from our peers. 
Over the past twelve years, the Fund has continued to be an industry leader 
that has served shareholders, local companies and the provincial economy 
well. By Daring to Lead, Golden Opportunities Fund has been successful  
as the first:

•  to engineer the launch of a provincial Retail Venture Capital Fund in 
Saskatchewan, providing valuable capital to local companies,

• Labour Fund in Canada, and the only, to be recognized as Fund of the Year in this asset class,
•  to raise the standard for Retail Venture Capital Fund reporting of transparency to shareholders by 

disclosing cost and fair market value of portfolio companies,
• to establish a loan loss provision with the Federal Government to allow our shareholders to 

invest in innovation while mitigating downside risk through our new Class i-share,
•   Venture Capital Fund from Saskatchewan to have representation on the Board of the  

Canadian Venture Capital and Private Equity Association, ensuring national standards on 
valuation and governance principles, and

•  to launch the diversified Class A-share and now the innovation Class i-share in which the  
Fund Manager incurred all set-up fees and initial operational costs as a commitment to align 
itself with shareholders.
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Strategy to Results
Throughout the economic volatility over the past two years, Golden 
Opportunities communicated it would be diligent in key areas that would 
strongly position the Fund as economies recover. We confirmed that we would:

1)  maintain increased liquidity for a strong balance sheet to take advantage 
of opportunities that prevail as the Fund’s portfolio companies begin to 
expand with new economic prosperity,

2)  work closely with our portfolio companies to ensure stability through 
uncertain times, and

3) maintain our vigorous policy on valuation principles and transparency.

The results of this strategy are proven in positive financial results for the 
Fund in fiscal 2010 and our portfolio companies that are well-positioned  
to create shareholder value.

In fiscal 2010, investors confirmed their support of this leading strategy as 
the Fund increased its assets by 15.4%, from approximately $147 million to 
$170 million, as a result of continued demand by investors and rebounding 
strength of our public portfolio companies. The integrity of the principles 
that govern Golden Opportunities is evidenced by the continued increase 
in shareholders each year, which now surpasses 22,000. The demand for 
Golden Opportunities is reconfirmed in fiscal 2010 by an increase of 213% in 
the number of companies that have included the Fund as a payroll deduction 
option, resulting in an 83% increase in shareholders investing through the 
payroll investment plan year-over-year.

Diversified Class A-share 

Operational Success 

Operationally, your Fund achieved similar success in these difficult times by 
increasing investment income in 2010 by 27% over 2009, from $4.5 million 
to $5.8 million. Given interest rates are still at an all-time low, this increase 
speaks volumes to the performance of the portfolio companies that 
contributed significantly to this income. While managing controllable costs, 
the net results of operations was a very attractive $4.6 million, which resulted 
in $0.41 per Class A-share. All of these activities have resulted in a one-year 
increase of the Pricing Net Asset Value per Class A-share from $13.35 at fiscal 
year end 2009 to $13.59 (+1.8%) at fiscal year end 2010 and $13.87 (+3.9%) 
as of October 22, 2010, resulting in positive performance and creating 
momentum for the future. Your Fund’s performance has outperformed the 
Globe Peer Index, a comprehensive index that measures all of our peers for a 
one, three, five and ten-year period.

Golden Opportunities not only continued its increased popularity and strong 
financial performance, the Fund was also vigilant in working with our portfolio 
companies to ensure they were well-positioned coming out of the economic 
downturn to contribute value to our shareholders. The following sampling 
of milestones and achievements across a variety of industries reflect that this 
was accomplished and demonstrates the exciting outlook for the portfolio 
companies and your Fund.

Cumulative Dollars investeD 
sinCe inCeption

raising the Bar
ContinueD 

shareholDer growth

201020092008

$132 M

$154 M

$183 M

201020092008

17,000

20,000

22,000

Golden Opportunities has partnered with 96 
investee companies and impacted approximately 
3,000 jobs across local communities.

Fueling growth is the Fund’s payroll plan as 
the number of shareholders investing through 
payroll increased by 83% and the number of 
companies that offer the option increased by 
213% over last year.
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Message froM fund ManageMent

Phenomenome Discoveries Inc.  – Life Sciences “Commercialization Company of the Year”

Phenomenome Discoveries is receiving worldwide recognition for its patented technology which 
addresses devastating diseases such as cancer, multiple sclerosis and Alzheimer’s disease. In 2010, 
the company completed an agreement with a major Canadian medical lab company to roll out its 
blood test for the identification of colorectal cancer risks – the first of its magnitude in the world – to 
consumers and advanced the same commercialization negotiations for the much larger U.S. market.

Prairie Plant Systems Inc. – Biotechnology “Growth Company of the Year”

In fiscal 2010, Prairie Plant Systems successfully executed a new $17 million agreement that is 
expandable up to $32 million with the Federal Government of Canada. Prairie Plant Systems 
has made inroads with its intellectual process into the U.S., which is making this plant-made 
pharmaceutical company a remarkable business success.

Solido Design Automation Inc.  – Technology “Best Endorsement of the Year”

Analog chip manufacturers around the world use Solido Design Automation’s proprietary 
software to help optimize the production of chips that are used in Wii™ gaming consoles, Sony 
digital cameras and wireless handheld devices to name only a few. In 2010, the semiconductor 
market rebounded with a vengeance, resulting in new contracts for Solido Design Automation 
with Qualcomm, Sony and NEC.

Big Sky Farms Inc. – Agriculture “Turnaround Company of the Year”

Big Sky Farms was caught by the deepest and longest downturn in the history of the hog cycle. 
With Golden Opportunities leading, the sub-debt holders assisted the company in emerging 
from its restructuring on March 22, 2010 and returning to levels of profitability it experienced 
before the perfect storm arrived.

West Mountain Capital Corp. – Environmental “Global Company of the Year”

West Mountain Capital successfully announced two major joint venture agreements with two 
separate Chinese companies that will see its Wolseley, Saskatchewan based technology and plant 
duplicated in China to take advantage of the Chinese Government’s announcement that they will 
commit $3 billion towards cleaning contaminated PCB soils.

Can Pro Ingredients Ltd. – Agriculture Processing “Startup Company of the Year”

This fiscal year, Can Pro Ingredients successfully brought its world-class canola processing facility 
to full production to meet the product demand for its high value canola protein feed ingredients 
which is five times more than its production capacity.

Renegade Petroleum Ltd. – Oil and Gas “Production Company of the Year”

Renegade Petroleum completed over $100 million in acquisitions and farm-in arrangements, 
growing production from 150 barrels per day to its target of 2,600 barrels per day by  
December 2010. Having accumulated over 66,864 net acres of land and 115 net drilling  
locations across Saskatchewan, Manitoba and North Dakota, Renegade Petroleum is poised  
for continued rapid growth.

Connect Energy Partnership – Energy Services “Service Company of the Year”

Connect Energy, Golden Opportunities Fund’s largest single investment to date, launched out of 
the gates in fiscal 2009 with contracts totalling more than 4.7 million gigajoules (GJ) of natural gas.   
The company’s growth momentum has continued as it has increased contracts by more than 38%, 
to over 6.5 million GJ in the last year with customer locations now totalling over 4,100.

Portfolio Well-Positioned to Create Value



Diversifying  
aCross key eConomiC 

seCtors  

* 1% includes Education, Mining and Resources,  
and Real Estate

Diversified Class A-share portfolio, based on cost

Portfolio Activity

Golden Opportunities’ diversified Class A-share portfolio achieved 
tremendous progress through volatile times and is well-positioned to prosper 
with the economic growth projected by the Conference Board of Canada. In 
fiscal 2010, additional investment opportunities of $28 million were identified 
to fulfill our strategy of increasing the oil and gas sector of the portfolio to 
38% and maintaining a strong investment focus in the agricultural sector. To 
this mandate, the Saskatchewan venture capital and private equity industry 
applauded a new strategic partnership between golden opportunities 
and lex energy partners with an investment commitment of $5 million by 
Golden Opportunities to foster broad investment synergies and a coworking 
relationship between the two organizations. The leadership group at 
Lex Energy Partners comprised of Craig Lothian, Peter Bannister, James 
Richardson and others, combined with the long-standing expertise, principles 
and brand of Golden Opportunities, will contribute added value, benefits and 
returns in the energy sector to our shareholders.

This transaction complemented new investments with proven partners in 
the oil and gas sector during the fiscal period including field exploration 

limited partnership, legacy oil + gas inc., Duce oil ltd., renegade 
petroleum ltd. and westman exploration ltd. with the latter 
representing the Fund’s first transaction into Manitoba in syndication 
with Lex Capital Partners and WestMan Exploration’s team with 
approximately 150 years of collective experience.

These oil and gas partnerships were diversified with new 
investments in key sectors such as agriculture (Input Capital 
Limited Partnership), oil and gas services (Totem Drilling and 
CanElson Drilling) and Biotechnology (Phenomenome Discoveries).

With over $10 million in venture investment exits in the same 
period including consolidations, mergers and restructuring in 
companies such as Renegade Oil and Gas, TriStar Oil & Gas,  
Duce Oil, Big Sky Farms and Totem Drilling, the Fund was active  
in positioning the portfolio for growth and shareholder value.

Innovation Class i-share

The need for innovation has never been more important as our 
global economy faces substantial challenges in health care, the 
environment and an aging and growing population with limited 
resources. By Daring to Lead, we are addressing our local 
innovation agenda in partnership with the Federal Government via 
Western Economic Diversification Canada by offering shareholders 
the Class i-share. This focus will pay substantial dividends on many 
levels: to local economies by diversifying away from commodities; 

to the world by saving lives; and to our shareholders by creating 
value. The most common characteristic of Fortune 500 companies 
is innovation. The Class i-share experienced a positive increase in 

demand by investors with an increase in subscriptions of 47% 
from the previous fiscal year, taking the Net Asset Value of 

the share class to over $3 million, an increase of 148%.

38%
Oil & Gas

13%
Renewable

Energy

3% 2% 1%

10%
Agriculture

9%

8%

6%

5%

5%

Biotechnology

Energy
Services

Technology

Value Added
Manufacturing  

Services

Healthcare Other

Environmental

Class A Investment Sectors
(August 31, 2010)
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The Fund’s commitment to innovation with our shareholders in partnership 
with the Federal Government, including a loan loss provision, is innovative 
and leading. In fiscal 2010, the Fund Manager Dared to Lead again by 
agreeing to fund all net operational expenses on a non-recoverable basis. 
This leadership was followed by the Fund’s principal distributor, who agreed 
to delay all fees as well on the same conditions as the Fund Manager.

Shareholders invested in the Class i-share will be pleased that the initial 
investment in this share class was in phenomenome Discoveries. The 
investment, by way of convertible debenture, provides regular yield back  
to the Fund, security on the investment by way of a registered debenture, 
upside to the Fund through a conversion feature and loan loss protection  
for shareholders.

The Fund Manager’s financial leadership coupled with the completion of the 
first investment in the innovation share class in fiscal 2010 led to the unit 
value increasing from its initial launch value of $10.00 per unit in fiscal 2009 
to $10.08 per unit at the end of the reporting period. 

The Year in Close
Golden Opportunities has Dared to Lead in its vision 
for the Fund and the decisions that our Investment 
Management Team has made on behalf of its 
shareholders over the past twelve years. This has 
made your Fund the most innovative, transparent  
and results-driven provincial Retail Venture Capital 
Fund in the country. Golden Opportunities’ hard  
work with its portfolio companies through the past  
two years in a volatile and turbulent economy has  
been successful as evidenced in the milestones 
identified and new investment partnerships achieved. 
We are well-positioned to prosper as a Fund alongside 
the positive outlook for the economy. The positive 
performance posted in fiscal 2010 confirms the work 
that has occurred. The momentum and optimism we 
have going forward will positively impact the jobs 
our investments will continue to create, the lives our 
portfolio companies will help to save and the value  
we will build for you, our valued shareholders.

Thank you for your continued support.

Sincere Regards,

Grant Kook
President & CEO

PROTECTING YOUR
INVESTMENT

WITH UP TO

80%
IN LOSS SUPPORT*

*Subject to $32 million committed, up to 80% of losses 
in any eligible i-share transactions are protected up to a 
maximum of $6.25 million in aggregate, by:

5

The consistency and long-standing tenure of the Fund’s Senior Investment 
Management Team demonstrates commitment, integrity of the Fund’s 
investment philosophy and continuity of the investment process.
From left to right: Jamie Schwitzer, Vice President; Rob Connoly, CFO; 
Ulrich Felbermayr, Senior Investment Manager; Grant Kook, President 
& CEO; Doug Banzet, COO & Director; Tyler Bradley, Financial Analyst; 
Wanda Hunchak, Vice President.
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policieS And pRActiceS of the fund

our PorTfolio, 
our ParTners

West Mountain Capital Corp. 
specializes in the treatment of contaminated 
soil, sludge and other waste streams through 
its wholly owned subsidiary, Phase separation 
solutions Inc.; using its patented technology to 
meet the market opportunities in Canada, the 
u.s. and China.

EnvironMEntal tSX-v: WMt
$4,494,398

BlackPearl resources inc. oil and gas 
company with exposure to a large high-quality 
resource base focused on heavy oil assets 
located in Western Canada, including onion 
Lake, saskatchewan.

oil and GaS tSX: PXX 
$4,037,333

 Jump.ca Wireless Supply Corp. 
Leader in the rapidly growing wireless 
technology industry, experiencing tremendous 
growth and demand in cellular phones, wireless 
data solutions, high speed Internet, interactive 
television and security system services.

tEChnoloGy $3,518,964

Can Pro ingredients ltd. the first 
canola processing facility in the world using 
patented technology to produce high value 
canola protein concentrate that has received 
remarkable international demand in the animal 
and aquaculture feed industry.

valuE addEd  
ManufaCturinG $4,918,410

adC Enterprises 4 inc. Invested in 
assiniboia farmland LP, a limited partnership 
that acquires, consolidates and manages 
agricultural farmland in saskatchewan.

aGriCulturE $3,500,000

L I M I T E D  P A R T N E R S H I P  4
ASSINIBOIA FARMLAND

Western Building Centres limited 
specializes in the strategic consolidation  
of profitable Home Hardware branded  
operations while exploring additional 
acquisition opportunities within the building 
supplies industry.

SErviCES $7,166,815

terra Grain fuels inc. the largest 
wheat-based ethanol production facility in 
Canada, operating a 150 million litre ethanol 
facility near Belle Plaine, saskatchewan.

rEnEWaBlE EnErGy $5,272,671

Connect Energy Partnership  
an independent natural gas supplier offering 
fixed price long-term natural gas contracts  
to small and mid-volume commercial and  
end-user segments.

EnErGy SErviCES $12,814,705

Phenomenome discoveries inc. 
World-leading human health research  
company using patented technology  
to discover novel molecules, enabling the  
discovery of new diagnostics and drugs for 
devastating diseases such as colorectal cancer, 
multiple sclerosis and alzheimer’s disease.

BiotEChnoloGy $11,355,977

noramera BioEnergy Corporation 
renewable energy ethanol production facility 
located in southern saskatchewan, in partnership 
with Weyburn Inland terminal, one of the largest 
grain terminal facilities on the Prairies.

rEnEWaBlE EnErGy $7,565,640

field Exploration limited 
Partnership oil and gas-focused company 
participating in drilling activity in saskatchewan 
and Manitoba; the fund’s fourth partnership 
working with this proven management team.

oil and GaS $4,250,101

Field
Exploration

nEW

legacy oil + Gas inc. the third largest 
independent Bakken play producer in southeast 
saskatchewan and southwest Manitoba; the 
fund’s third partnership with this experienced 
management team.

oil and GaS tSX: lEG
$3,935,853

CMYK:  32/100/81/43
RGB: 115/15/34
Hex: 

Pantone (closest ): #195 Pantone: Cool Grey 11

nEW

CanElson drilling inc. Leading  
provider of oilfield drilling services including 
the manufacture of drilling rigs to customers 
across north america.

oil and GaS tSX-v: Cdi
$5,933,076

nEW

Investment portfolio as at October 15, 2010. 

NEW denotes fiscal 2010 new investments as well as follow-on investments made into new companies from fiscal 2009.

Credence resources limited 
Partnership oil and gas company working in 
partnership with well-known management teams 
focused on strategic oil and gas opportunities.

oil and GaS $9,703,270

Credence
Resources

nEW

TriWest
Exploration Inc.
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noramera technologies inc.  
Private company based in Weyburn, 
saskatchewan, owns and operates two gasifiers 
in partnership with noramera Bioenergy 
Corporation with approximately 75% of grant 
funding from the Provincial/federal specific 
risk Material funding Program.

rEnEWaBlE EnErGy $1,988,089

Solido design automation inc.  
Provides proprietary software to analog chip 
manufacturing companies such as Qualcomm, 
sony, neC and taiwan semiconductor 
Manufacturing to optimize design quality 
and efficiency of semiconductor chips used in 
devices such as BlackBerry® cell phones, Wii™ 
gaming consoles and sony cameras.

tEChnoloGy $2,000,000

Prairie Plant Systems inc. Pioneer 
in manufacturing pharmaceuticals derived 
from plant-host platforms grown in biosecure 
production facilities. In 2010, received a new 
$17 million contract, expandable up to $32 
million, from Health Canada.

BiotEChnoloGy $2,167,962

nal oil & Gas trust Public trust that 
acquires, develops, produces and sells crude 
oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids from 
saskatchewan, alberta, British Columbia  
and ontario.

oil and GaS tSX: naE.un
$2,214,182

Weyburn inland terminal ltd.  
a farmer-owned and managed inland  
terminal and grain condominium complex 
leading the way with innovative ideas to 
improve the overall efficiency of Canada’s 
grain-handling system.

aGriCulturE $3,464,594

Connect Energy Holdings Ltd.
BOS Rentals W3 Ltd.
Performance Plants Inc.
Kenosee Resources Ltd.
Tyvan Oils Ltd.
Just Energy Income Fund
WestMan Exploration Ltd. NEW
Quality Wireline Services Ltd.
Rack Petroleum Ltd.
NorAmera Properties Inc.

Blackstone Petroleum Ltd.
Hathersage Holdings Inc. NEW
Trinidad Drilling Ltd.
Safety Seven  

Manufacturing Inc.
Penn West Energy Trust
Crescent Point Energy Corp.
Big Sky Management 

Consulting Corp. NEW

New Media Campus Inc.
BNP (Saskatchewan)  

Resources Inc.
Credence Resources Inc.
Field Exploration Inc. NEW
Propel Energy Corp.
Cevena Bioproducts Inc.
Strategic Resources Inc.
Newton Energy Corporation

Cordy Oilfield Services Inc.
Del-Air Systems Ltd.
Big Sky Farms Inc.
Mahalo Energy Ltd.
Bregma Materials Solutions Ltd. 
Cipher Energy Inc.

CLASS i-SHARE   
Phenomenome  

Discoveries Inc. NEW

OTHER INvESTMENTS

renegade Petroleum ltd. the 
fund’s second partnership with Ceo, Michael 
erickson, and his proven management team 
that has considerable growth potential, a large 
diversified land position and an inventory of 
drill prospects in saskatchewan and Manitoba.

oil and GaS tSX-v: rPl 
$3,303,500

nEW

the Goal Group (G4 and G5 Energy 
limited Partnerships) Invests in a variety of 
high-quality junior oil and gas companies 
undertaking exploration and development  
in saskatchewan, Manitoba and alberta.

oil and GaS $3,371,700

Golden health Care inc. specializes 
in the development of unique long-term  
care facilities that are focused on improving 
the way elderly healthcare is delivered, with an 
existing facility located in Prince albert and a 
second facility currently under construction in 
north Battleford, saskatchewan.

hEalthCarE $3,438,625

input Capital limited Partnership 
Participates in saskatchewan’s world-leading 
canola growing industry by partnering with 
elite canola farmers through financing of  
input costs.

aGriCulturE $2,500,000

vecima networks inc. World-class 
leader in designing, manufacturing and 
supplying advanced broadband products  
for major international companies to  
deliver digital tV, Video-on-demand and 
Broadband Internet.

tEChnoloGy tSX: vCM 
$1,667,396

lex Energy Partners lP strategic 
partnership agreement with this oil and gas 
team led by Craig Lothian, James richardson, 
Peter Bannister and others to build the 
saskatchewan oil and gas industry.

oil and GaS $1,750,000

nEW

nEW

Adding VAlue while mAking A diffeRence in ouR liVeS
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AnnuAl mAnAgement RepoRt of fund peRfoRmAnce

This annual management report of fund performance contains financial highlights of Golden 
Opportunities Fund Inc. (the “Fund”), and should be read in conjunction with the financial statements 
of the Fund dated August 31, 2010. Security holders of the Fund may request a copy of the Fund’s 
annual and interim financial statements, quarterly portfolio disclosure, proxy voting policies and 
procedures, and proxy voting disclosure record at no cost, by calling 1-866-261-5686, by visiting 
our website at www.goldenopportunities.ca, by writing to us at Suite 830, 410 – 22nd Street East, 
Saskatoon, SK S7K 5T6 or by visiting SEDAR’s website at www.sedar.com.

mAnAgement diScuSSion of fund peRfoRmAnce
Investment Objective and Strategies

The investment objective of the Fund is to invest its eligible capital in small and medium-sized 
Saskatchewan and Manitoba eligible businesses with the goal of maximizing shareholder returns 
through the long-term appreciation of the Fund’s net asset value.

The Fund invests its share capital in companies that meet the investment criteria as defined in The 
Labour-sponsored Venture Capital Corporations Act (Saskatchewan) (the “Saskatchewan Act”) and 
related regulations and The Labour-Sponsored Venture Capital Corporations Act (Manitoba) (the 
“Manitoba Act”) and related regulations. The Fund issues two share classes in both Saskatchewan 
and Manitoba, a diversified share class (the “A share”) and an innovation share class (the “I share”). 
For the A share class, the Fund intends to provide diversification for its shareholders by investing 
in a wide range of industry sectors in both Saskatchewan and Manitoba. The Fund will further seek 
to diversify its investments according to stage of development and will invest in businesses that are 
in the start-up, growth, and mature stages of the business development cycle. The I share class will 
invest in companies in the innovation sector of the Saskatchewan and Manitoba economies. These 
sectors include but are not limited to information and communication technology, life sciences, 
biotechnology, industrial biotechnology, clean technology, value-added agriculture, and advanced 
manufacturing. For both share classes, the Fund generally makes investments with the expectation 
that the holding period will be five to eight years.

The Fund’s Manager performs a fundamental analysis of each investment opportunity including, but 
not limited to, an analysis of: 
•	 the	experience	of	management	personnel,
•	 the	industry	and	the	competitive	position	of	the	company	within	its	market,
•	 the	past	performance	and	business	plan	of	the	company,
•	 the	financial	statements,	projections	and	forecasts	of	the	company,
•	 the	expected	return	on	investment,
•	exit	strategies,	and
•	 the	risks	of	the	company.

The particular form of the Fund’s investments is selected and negotiated after taking into account  
the investment objectives and criteria of the Fund. The Fund’s first issuance of Class I shares did  
not occur until January 16, 2009. During the year ended August 31, 2010, the Fund made its 
first Class I share investment through an investment in the biotechnology sector in the form of a 
convertible debenture. The Fund has diversified its Class A investment portfolio through the use 
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of instruments such as common shares, preferred shares, trust units, convertible preferred shares, 
partnership units, debentures, convertible debentures, term loans, participating loans, and options. 
The Fund has structured its Class A investment portfolio to provide a yield that serves to stabilize unit 
values in the short term, while also maintaining potential capital appreciation in the portfolio over 
the long term. When possible, where the Fund makes an investment by way of a debt instrument, 
the Fund will secure its investment by a charge over the business’ assets. This charge may be 
subordinated to other lenders’ security. The Fund takes the security with the goal of limiting the 
downside risk of the investment.

Risks
(in thousands of dollars)

The risks of investing in the Fund remain as discussed in the Prospectus. The Class A and Class I 
shares of the Fund are highly speculative in nature and are suitable only for investors able to make a 
long-term investment. The investments made by the Fund involve a longer commitment than what is 
typical for other types of investments made by mutual funds. Many such investments require between 
five to eight years in order to mature and generate the returns expected by the Fund.

There may be changes introduced to the Federal, Saskatchewan and Manitoba legislation that may 
be unfavourable to the Fund’s ability to attract further investment.

Under the Saskatchewan Act, the Fund is required to invest and maintain at least 75% of its equity 
capital raised in Saskatchewan in investments in eligible Saskatchewan companies within two years 
from the fiscal year end of raising the equity capital. For share capital raised in Saskatchewan, as at 
August 31, 2010, the Fund had invested, or approved investments of, approximately $124,600.  
Based on this level of investment, the Fund has met its investment requirements on all share capital 
raised in Saskatchewan.

Under the Manitoba Act, the Fund is required to invest and maintain at least 70% of its equity capital 
raised in Manitoba in investments in eligible Manitoba companies within two years from the fiscal year 
end of raising the equity capital. For share capital raised in Manitoba, as at August 31, 2010, the Fund 
had invested $800. Based on this level of investment, the Fund has met its investment requirements 
on all share capital raised in Manitoba to August 31, 2009.

The business of the Fund is to invest its eligible capital in Saskatchewan and Manitoba eligible 
businesses and in proportion to the jurisdiction where it was raised. There is a risk the Fund will not 
be able to find suitable investments that meet its investment criteria. Over the past year, the Fund has 
once again demonstrated its ability to find companies that meet the Fund’s investment standards. For 
the year ended August 31, 2010, the Fund made Class A venture investments of $28,318 in eighteen 
companies and made its first Class I venture investment in the amount of $270 in one company.

Class A shares

For the Class A shares, the Fund attempts to mitigate the risk of its investment portfolio by investing 
in a diverse range of industries, and investing in companies at different stages of the business cycle. 
As at August 31, 2010, the Fund’s top four sectors based on cost were oil & gas, renewable energy, 
agriculture, and biotechnology. For diversification, as at August 31, 2010, the Fund is invested in 
thirteen different industry sectors. The Fund continues to hold investments in companies at each 
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stage of the business development cycle. During the time the Fund holds an investment, a portfolio 
company will move through the different stages of the business development cycle. As at August 31, 
2010, the Fund’s Class A venture investment portfolio, based on investment cost, was 22% mature, 
50% growth, and 28% start up. The cost base of the top five venture investment portfolio holdings of 
the Fund represents 22.9% of the Fund’s Class A net assets. Over the past five years, the cost base  
of its top five holdings as a percentage of Class A net assets has been in the range of 17% – 25%.

Class I Shares

The Class I shares will invest in companies in the innovation sector of the Saskatchewan and Manitoba 
economies. These sectors include but are not limited to information and communication technology, 
life sciences, biotechnology, industrial biotechnology, clean technology, value-added agriculture, and 
advanced manufacturing. As at August 31, 2010, the Class I shares were invested in one company 
which is in the biotechnology sector and is in the growth stage of the business development cycle. 
The cost base of the Class I venture investment represents 9.0% of the Fund’s Class I net assets. In 
relation to investments made by the Class I shares, the Fund has entered into a loss support program 
with Western Economic Diversification Canada which will provide loss protection support to Class I 
shareholders. Details of the loss support program are contained in the Fund’s Prospectus.

Please see the notes to the financial statements for a disclosure about the nature and extent of risk 
relative to the financial instruments and how the Fund manages those risks.

Valuing venture investments is inevitably based on inherent uncertainties and the resulting values may 
differ from values that would have been used had a ready market existed for the investments.

Results of Operations
(in thousands of dollars except per share amounts, number of shares and number of shareholders)

Net Assets

All references to “net assets” or “net assets per share” in this report are references to net assets 
determined in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) as 
presented in the financial statements of the Fund. All references to “net asset value” or “net asset 
value per share” in this report are references to net asset value determined for purposes of purchase 
and redemption of Class A shares and Class I shares, otherwise known as the pricing net asset value 
for these share classes, respectively. An explanation of the differences can be found in Note 10 of the 
August 31, 2010 financial statements.

The Fund increased its Class A net assets from $140,126 as at August 31, 2009 to $158,538 as at 
August 31, 2010. Pricing net asset value per Class A share increased from $13.35 as at August 31, 
2009 to $13.59 as at August 31, 2010, an increase of 1.80%.

The increase in Class A net assets of $18,412 is largely attributable to an increase in share capital of 
$13,796 after redemptions and share issue costs as well as the net results of operations for the year 
ended August 31, 2010 of $4,616. For the year ended August 31, 2010, the Fund raised proceeds 
of $20,567, net of share issue costs, from the issuance of Class A shares and incurred $6,771 of 
redemptions, representing 4.33% of the outstanding Class A share capital. This percentage is 
an increase over the previous redemption history of the Fund and is mostly due to the increased 
amount of rollovers incurred by the Fund. Rollovers occur when a shareholder redeems shares 
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upon the expiration of the eight-year hold period and purchases new shares. The amount of shares 
eligible for rollovers has increased as the Fund issued its first shares in 1999, and 2010 represented 
the completion of the fourth eight-year hold period. During the year, the number of Class A 
shares outstanding increased from 10,528,172 to 11,698,253 as the Fund increased its number of 
shareholders from approximately 20,000 to over 22,000.

Class A cash and marketable securities decreased from $37,377 to $31,195 as the Fund increased 
the cost base of its venture investments by $17,001. The Fund continues to hold cash and liquid 
marketable securities in order to fund future investments and for follow-on investments to existing 
portfolio companies.

As at August 31, 2010, the Class I net assets totaled $3,013. The Class I assets consisted primarily of 
cash of $1,312, marketable securities of $1,448 and a venture investment of $300. During the year 
ended August 31, 2010, the Fund raised proceeds of $1,782 from the issuance of Class I shares and 
incurred $8 of redemptions, representing 0.27% of the outstanding Class I share capital. The number 
of Class I shares outstanding increased from 121,464 to 298,892 during the year. There were no share 
issue costs on Class I shares as a result of all marketing service fees by the Fund’s principal distributor 
remaining unearned as of August 31, 2010 and the recovery of all other share issue costs relating to the 
Class I shares on a non-recourse basis from the Fund Manager, Westcap Mgt. Ltd. The Fund’s principal 
distributor does not earn the marketing service fee on Class I shares until the Fund has reached $5,000 
in gross subscriptions on Class I shares, at which time the fees would be payable. The Fund Manager 
has agreed to pay all other share issue costs of the Class I shares in excess of any net investment gain on 
a non-recourse basis until December 31, 2010. Pricing net asset value per Class I share increased from 
$10.00 as at August 31, 2009 to $10.08 as at August 31, 2010, an increase of 0.8%.

Investment Portfolio
(in thousands of dollars)

Class A Shares

The Fund increased the cost base of its Class A venture investments 
from $104,896 as at August 31, 2009 to $121,897 as at August 31, 
2010. The increase was mainly attributable to a $4,150 investment 
in Field Exploration Limited Partnership, an oil and gas partnership 
headquartered in Saskatoon, SK; a $3,000 investment in Totem Drilling 
Ltd., an oil and gas drilling company headquartered in Carnduff, SK 
which was subsequently acquired by CanElson Drilling Inc., a publicly 
traded oil and gas drilling company; a $2,500 investment in Input 
Capital Limited Partnership, a Regina, SK based limited partnership 
created to provide capital to canola farmers across Saskatchewan; a 
$2,000 investment in Duce Oil Ltd. which was subsequently acquired 
by Renegade Petroleum Ltd., a publicly traded oil and gas company 
with significant Saskatchewan operations; and a $1,750 investment in 
Lex Energy Partners LP, a Saskatchewan based limited partnership investing in oil and gas  
companies. During the year, the Fund also made its first Class A venture investment using share  
capital proceeds raised in Manitoba by investing $800 in WestMan Exploration Ltd., an oil and gas 
company currently drilling in Manitoba. The accompanying charts illustrate the diversification of the 
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Fund’s Class A investments across different industry sectors. The 
percentages shown are based on the costs of the investments.

During the year, the Fund increased its investment in the oil & 
gas sector to 38% of its investment portfolio from 33% at August 
31, 2009 with investments in companies such as Field Exploration 
Limited Partnership, CanElson Drilling Inc., Renegade Petroleum Ltd., 
Lex Energy Partners LP and WestMan Exploration Ltd. Investment 
in the agriculture sector remained neutral as the investment in Input 
Capital Limited Partnership was offset by the corporate restructuring 
of the Fund’s investment in Big Sky Farms Inc. The agriculture sector 
decreased during the year to 10% of the venture investment portfolio 
from 11% at August 31, 2009 due to increases in other investment 
sectors, most notably the oil & gas sector, which also resulted  
in most other sectors decreasing as an overall percentage of the 
Fund’s venture investment portfolio. Renewable energy increased to  
13% from 12% and services remained at 5% as the Fund made initial 
and follow-on investments in these sectors.

Statement of Operations
(in thousands of dollars except number of shareholders)

i) Revenue

For the Class A shares, revenue for the year ended August 31, 2010 was $5,789 compared to  
$4,547 for the 2009 year, an increase of $1,242, or 27%. The increase in revenue is mainly attributable 
to an increase in interest income from $3,415 in 2009 to $4,194 in 2010 and an increase in dividend 
income from $980 in 2009 to $1,341 in 2010. The increase in interest income is due to an increase  
in interest earned from venture investments. The increase in dividend income was largely the result  
of an increase in dividends received from Jump.ca Wireless Supply Corp. partially offset by a reduction 
in dividends received from the Fund’s investment in Rack Petroleum Ltd. which has now been converted 
to an interest-bearing investment as part of the disposition of the common shares held in the company.

For the Class I shares, revenue for the year ended August 31, 2010 was $21 compared to $2 for 
the 2009 year which began active operations on January 16, 2009. The increase in revenues is 
attributable to an increase in interest income due to interest earned from the Class I shares initial 
venture investment during the 2010 year as well as interest earned on the increase in cash and 
marketable securities held.

ii) Expenses

For the Class A shares, expenses increased from $5,371 in 2009 to $5,979 in 2010. The increase in 
expenses is reflective of the increased variable costs of operating a larger Fund. For the year ended 
August 31, 2010, the average Class A pricing net asset value was $149,712 and for the 2009 year, the 
average Class A pricing net asset value was $132,213. Over the past year, the number of shareholders 
has increased from approximately 20,000 to over 22,000.

For the Class I shares, expenses totaled $88 before the deferral by the Fund Manager of management 
fees of $55 and the recovery from the Fund Manager of $12 on a non-recourse basis. The Fund 

Class A Investment Sectors
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33%
Oil & Gas

12%
Renewable

Energy

3% 2% 1%

11%
Agriculture

10%

10%

7%

6%

5%

Biotechnology

Energy
Services

Technology

Value Added
Manufacturing  

Services

Healthcare Other

Environmental



13

Manager does not earn the management fee on Class I shares until the Fund has reached $5,000 in 
gross subscriptions on Class I shares, at which time the fees would be payable. The Fund Manager 
has also agreed to pay all other expenses of the Class I shares in excess of investment income earned 
on a non-recourse basis until December 31, 2010. The Fund Manager has paid all other expenses of 
the Class I shares in excess of investment income earned on a non-recourse basis since the inception 
of the Class I shares as well as all set up costs of the share class.

iii) Realized and unrealized gains (losses)

For the year, the Class A shares had a net realized loss on disposition of venture investments of 
$1,182. This net loss is attributable to a loss of $1,744 realized on the disposition of debt owing by Big 
Sky Farms Inc. as a result of a corporate reorganization that resulted in the Fund receiving a 22% overall 
ownership of the company and a $360 loss realized on the disposition of common shares of Renegade Oil 
& Gas Ltd. in exchange for common shares of Legacy Oil + Gas Inc. offset by gains totaling $922 realized 
on the dispositions of common shares of Rack Petroleum Ltd., Weyburn Inland Terminal Ltd. and TriStar 
Oil & Gas Ltd. Since the transaction involving the disposition of common shares of Renegade Oil & Gas 
Ltd., Legacy Oil + Gas Inc. has contributed $1,102 of the Fund’s $8,413 increase in unrealized gains on the 
Class A venture investment portfolio. During the year, an incentive participation amount (“IPA”) payable on 
realized gains and excess income earned on exited Class A investments was recognized and paid of $228. 
Due to increases in the fair value of the investee companies, there has been an increase of $2,197 in 
the contingent IPA on the Class A shares and an increase of $6 in the contingent IPA on the Class I 
shares. The contingent IPA is not payable until an exit from the investment is realized.

Recent Developments

The Canadian Accounting Standards Board (“AcSB”) recently confirmed the plan to adopt the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The Fund originally expected to adopt IFRS on 
a prospective basis effective for its fiscal year beginning September 1, 2011. In October 2010, the 
AcSB amended the Introduction to Part I of the CICA Handbook – Accounting requiring the adoption 
of IFRS by investment companies as defined in and applying Accounting Guideline 18, Investment 
Companies, such that the Fund is not required to adopt IFRS on a prospective basis until its fiscal year 
beginning September 1, 2012.

The Manager continues to monitor developments in the Fund’s IFRS changeover plan including 
the recent amendment issued by the AcSB and has been assessing the likely impacts on the 
implementation decisions, financial statement preparation, internal controls and information systems. 
Based on the Manager’s preliminary analysis, the Manager believes the changeover to IFRS will not 
materially affect the Fund’s existing business arrangements.

Based on the Manager’s review of the current IFRS against the Fund’s current accounting policies 
and financial statement presentation under Canadian GAAP, it is not expected that there would 
be an impact to the Fund’s net asset value per share for either of the Class A shares or the Class I 
shares. The Manager has determined that the primary impact of IFRS on accounting policies and 
implementation decisions will be on the financial statement presentation and note disclosures in the 
Fund’s financial statements.

The CICA recently issued an amendment to Section 3862 to improve fair value disclosures.  
The amendment applies to annual financial statements relating to fiscal years ending after  



14

AnnuAl mAnAgement RepoRt of fund peRfoRmAnce

September 30, 2009. The amendment to the existing standard requires classification of the Fund’s 
financial instruments into three levels based on the method used to value the financial instruments. 
These amendments have been made to address the need for increased consistency and comparability 
of fair value measurements and to expand the disclosure surrounding fair value measurements. These 
amendments have no impact on the Fund’s valuation policies or on the net assets of the Fund.  
These changes have been reflected in the August 31, 2010 financial statements.

Related Party Transactions
(in thousands of dollars)

The Fund has retained Westcap Mgt. Ltd. (the “Manager”), a company controlled by the President 
& Chief Executive Officer of the Fund, as the Fund Manager by an agreement dated December 
31, 2008, updated to incorporate the recent expansion of the Fund, and replacing the previous 
agreement dated January 13, 1998. Please refer to the Management Fees section for a description  
of services provided and fees received by the Manager.

Office and other costs, including rent, secretarial, janitorial, and photocopying expenses totaling  
$1 were paid or payable to Tri-Sec Financial Group Ltd., a company controlled by the President and 
Chief Executive Officer of the Fund, and office and other costs totaling $29 were also paid or payable 
to the Manager.

The related party transactions were in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange 
amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.

finAnciAl highlightS
The following tables show selected key financial information about the Fund and are intended to help 
you understand the Fund’s financial performance for the past five years.

The Fund’s Net Assets per Class A Share (1)

 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

Net assets, beginning of year $ 13.31 $ 14.40 $ 14.31 $ 13.57 $ 14.05
Increase (decrease) from operations: 
Total revenue $ 0.52 $ 0.46 $ 0.62 $ 0.64 $ 0.52
Total expenses  (0.54)  (0.54)  (0.58)  (0.57)  (0.58)
Realized gains (losses) for the period  (0.13)  (0.02)  0.72  (0.03)  0.66
Unrealized gains (losses) for the period  0.56  (0.68)  (0.60)  0.88  (0.92)

Total increase (decrease) from  
   operations: (2) $ 0.41 $ (0.78) $ 0.16 $ 0.92 $ (0.32)
Net assets at August 31 of year shown $ 13.55 $ 13.31 $ 14.40 $ 14.31 $ 13.57

(1)  This information is derived from the Fund’s audited annual financial statements. The net assets per security presented 
in the financial statements differ from the net asset value calculated for fund pricing purposes. An explanation of these 
differences can be found in the notes to the financial statements. This difference is due to the Fund’s 2004 change in 
accounting policy (due to the implementation of CICA 1100) with respect to deferred charges and the adoption of CICA 
Section 3855.

(2)  Net assets are based on the actual number of shares outstanding at the relevant time. The increase/decrease from 
operations is based on the weighted average number of shares outstanding over the financial period.



15

The Fund’s Net Assets per Class I Share (1)

    2010 2009

Net assets, beginning of year (2)       $ 10.00 $ 10.00
Increase (decrease) from operations: 
Total revenue       $ 0.10 $ 0.02
Total expenses        (0.42)  (0.24)
Total expenses waived/recovered        0.32  0.28
Realized gains (losses) for the period        –  –
Unrealized gains (losses) for the period        0.11  –

Total increase (decrease) from operations: (3)       $ 0.11 $ 0.06
Net assets at August 31 of year shown       $ 10.08 $ 10.00

(1) The information is derived from the Fund’s audited annual financial statements.
(2)  Active operations with respect to Class I shares began on January 16, 2009 with the first issuance of Class I shares at the 

price of $10.00 per share.
(3)  Net assets are based on the actual number of shares outstanding at the relevant time. The increase/decrease from 

operations is based on the weighted average number of shares outstanding over the financial period.

Ratios and Supplemental Data – Class A Shares

 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

Total net asset value (000’s) (1) $ 159,013 $ 140,512 $ 132,919 $ 110,264 $ 86,915
Number of shares outstanding (1) 11,698,253 10,528,172 9,160,392 7,655,828 6,325,636
Management expense ratio (2)  6.97%  6.47%  6.86%  7.80%  5.13%
Trading expense ratio (3)  –  –  –  –  –
Portfolio turnover rate (4)  8.04%  3.00%  23.48%  10.38%  14.16%
Net asset value per share $ 13.59 $ 13.35 $ 14.51 $ 14.40 $ 13.74

(1) This information is provided as at August 31 of the year shown.
(2)  Management expense ratio is calculated based on the requirements of National Instrument 81 – 106. It is calculated by 

dividing the aggregate of the total expenses of the Fund and any other fee, charge, or expense of the Fund that has the 
effect of reducing the Fund’s net asset value by the average net asset value of the investment fund for the financial year. 
The management expense includes the Fund’s operating expenses, share issue costs, incentive participation amounts 
on realized gains, and contingent incentive participation amounts accrued on unrealized gains. The Fund’s operating 
expenses as a percentage of average pricing net asset value were as follows: 2010 – 3.99%; 2009 – 4.06%; 2008 – 3.96%; 
2007 – 4.07%; 2006 – 4.17%. 

(3)  The trading expense ratio represents total commissions and other portfolio transaction costs expressed as an annualized 
percentage of the average net asset value during the period. The Fund has not incurred any trading expenses since inception.

(4)  The Fund’s portfolio turnover rate indicates how actively the Fund’s Manager manages its portfolio investments. A portfolio 
turnover rate of 100% is equivalent to the Fund buying and selling all of the securities in its portfolio once in the course 
of the year. The higher a fund’s portfolio turnover in a year, the greater the chance of an investor receiving taxable capital 
gains in the year. There is not necessarily a relationship between a high turnover rate and the performance of the Fund.
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Ratios and Supplemental Data – Class I Shares

    2010 2009

Total net asset value (000’s) (1)       $ 3,013 $ 1,215
Number of shares outstanding (1)    298,892 121,464
Management expense ratio (2)        1.30%  0.00%
Management expense ratio before waiver/recovery       6.59%  11.55%
Trading expense ratio (3)        –  –
Portfolio turnover rate (4)        –  –
Net asset value per share       $ 10.08 $ 10.00

(1)  This information is provided as at August 31 of the year shown. The Fund issued its first Class I share on January 16, 2009.
(2)  Management expense ratio is calculated based on the requirements of National Instrument 81 – 106. It is calculated by 

dividing the aggregate of the total expenses of the Fund and any other fee, charge, or expense of the Fund that has the 
effect of reducing the Fund’s net asset value by the average net asset value of the investment fund for the financial year. 
The management expense ratio has been annualized for the year ended August 31, 2009 based on the first Class I share 
being issued on January 16, 2009. The management expense includes the Fund’s operating expenses, share issue costs, 
incentive participation amounts on realized gains, and contingent incentive participation amounts accrued on unrealized 
gains. The Fund’s operating expenses as a percentage of average pricing net asset value were as follows: 2010 – 1.00% 
(4.17% before waiver/recovery); 2009 – 0.00% (3.90% before waiver/recovery).

(3)  The trading expense ratio represents total commissions and other portfolio transaction costs expressed as an annualized 
percentage of the average net asset value during the period. The Fund has not incurred any trading expenses since inception.

(4)  The Fund’s portfolio turnover rate indicates how actively the Fund’s Manager manages its portfolio investments. A portfolio 
turnover rate of 100% is equivalent to the Fund buying and selling all of the securities in its portfolio once in the course of 
the year. The higher a fund’s portfolio turnover in a year the greater the chance of an investor receiving taxable capital gains 
in the year. There is not necessarily a relationship between a high turnover rate and the performance of the Fund.

Management Fees
(in thousands of dollars)

The annual management fee, which is calculated and payable monthly, is equal to 2.5% of the 
aggregate Pricing Net Asset Value of the Fund, on a Class-by-Class basis, as at each valuation 
date. The Manager has been retained to manage and administer the business affairs of the Fund, 
including the management of the Fund’s investments in eligible businesses and its liquid portfolio 
investments, and maintain all required books and records of the Fund. The Manager is also 
responsible for seeking out and identifying investment opportunities and undertaking operational 
due diligence of the investment opportunities. The Manager develops investment recommendations 
to the Board, monitors all investments, provides performance reports to the Board and makes 
disposition recommendations to the Board. For these services, the Manager is compensated with the 
management fees. The Manager does not earn the management fee on Class I shares until the Fund 
has reached $5,000 in gross subscriptions on Class I shares, at which time the fees would be payable. 
A 20% incentive participation amount is also payable to the Manager, provided certain criteria have 
been met. The incentive participation amount is only earned on realized gains and the realized 
investment performance of the Fund. The criteria is fully described in the Fund’s Prospectus.

Service fees of 0.50% per year are paid by the Fund directly to dealers. For the year ended 
August 31, 2010, the Fund incurred service fees of $748 (2009 – $659) on Class A shares. Service fees 
of $10 (2009 – $3) incurred by Class I shares during the year are included in direct costs and expenses in 
excess of investment income earned which were recovered on a non-recourse basis from the Manager.
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pASt peRfoRmAnce
The performance data provided does not take into account sales, redemption, or other optional 
charges payable by any shareholder that would have reduced returns. Past performance does not 
necessarily indicate how a Fund will perform in the future.

Year-by-Year Returns

Class A Shares
The bar chart below shows the Fund’s annual performance for each of the last ten completed fiscal 
year ends for Class A shares. The bar chart shows, in percentage terms, how much an investment 
made on the first day of each financial year would have grown or decreased by the last day of each 
financial year. The date of the Fund’s financial year end is August 31.

Class I Shares
The bar chart to the right shows the Fund’s performance for each of the 
last two completed fiscal year ends for Class I shares. The 2009 fiscal year 
end consists of the period from January 16, 2009, the first day on which 
the Class I shares were issued, to August 31, 2009. The bar chart shows, in 
percentage terms, how much an investment made on the first day of each 
financial year would have grown or decreased by the last day of each 
financial year. The date of the Fund’s financial year end is August 31.

Annual Compound Returns

Class A Shares
 Golden Opportunities Fund Inc. Globe Peer Index
Ten year -0.21% -5.26%
Five year -1.01% -6.21%
Three year -1.91% -10.55%
One year 1.80% -4.89%

Class I Shares
 Golden Opportunities Fund Inc. Globe Peer Index
Since inception 0.49% -6.37%
One year 0.80% -4.89%

The returns for Golden Opportunities Fund Inc. do not take into consideration the tax credits received 
by the purchaser. The “Globe Peer Index” combines the returns from 110 Labour-Sponsored Venture 
Capital Funds to provide a sector average return.
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SummARY of inVeStment poRtfolio
Class A Shares
Below is a summary of the Fund’s Class A share investment portfolio as at August 31, 2010. The 
percentages shown are the investment’s fair value as a percentage of the Fund’s Class A net asset value 
as at August 31, 2010. Throughout the financial year, the summary of investment portfolio may change 
due to ongoing portfolio transactions of the Fund and a quarterly update is available upon request.

Top 25 Holdings

 1. Cash  10.62%
 2. Phenomenome Discoveries Inc. Equity 7.98%, Debt 0.39%  8.37%
 3. Connect Energy Partnership Debt  6.29%
 4. Credence Resources Limited Partnership Debt 5.19%, Equity 0.82%  6.01%
 5. Western Building Centres Limited Debt 3.32%, Equity 1.50%   4.82%
 6. NorAmera BioEnergy Corporation Debt 2.84%, Equity 1.92%  4.76%
 7. Affinity Credit Union  
    Due February 20, 2011 Term Deposit 3.46%
 8. Terra Grain Fuels Inc. Debt 3.32%
 9. Can Pro Ingredients Ltd. Equity 1.92%, Debt 1.17%  3.09%
 10. CanElson Drilling Inc. Equity  3.08%
 11. West Mountain Capital Corp. Equity 2.94%
 12. Field Exploration Limited Partnership Debt 2.61%, Equity n/m* 2.61%
 13. Weyburn Inland Terminal Ltd. Equity  2.51%
 14. Jump.ca Wireless Supply Corp. Equity 2.47%
 15. Legacy Oil + Gas Inc. Equity 2.37%
 16. Golden Health Care Inc. Equity 1.64%, Debt 0.72% 2.36%
 17. Connect Energy Holdings Ltd. Equity 2.24%
 18. ADC Enterprises 4 Inc. Debt 2.20%
 19. Affinity Credit Union  
    Due October 28, 2010 Term Deposit 2.20%
 20. BlackPearl Resources Inc. Equity 1.84%
 21. Renegade Petroleum Ltd. Equity 1.80%
 22. Input Capital Limited Partnership Equity 1.57%
 23. Prairie Plant Systems Inc. Equity 1.36%
 24. Solido Design Automation Inc. Equity 1.26%
 25. Affinity Credit Union  
    Due October 27, 2010 Term Deposit 1.26%
*n/m – not material; less than 0.01%
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venture Investments – By Sector 

Oil and Gas 33.08%
Biotechnology 12.87%
Renewable Energy 11.93%
Energy Services 10.28%
Agriculture 8.33%
Services 6.34%
Technology 5.93%
Value Added Manufacturing 4.09%
Environmental 3.55%
Healthcare 2.84%
Real Estate 0.55%
Education 0.19%
Mining 0.02%
 100.00%
Class I Shares
Below is a summary of the Fund’s Class I share investment portfolio as at August 31, 2010. The 
percentages shown are the investment’s fair value as a percentage of the Fund’s Class I net asset value 
as at August 31, 2010. Throughout the financial year, the summary of investment portfolio may change 
due to ongoing portfolio transactions of the Fund and a quarterly update is available upon request.

 1. Cash  43.57%
 2. Government of Canada Due December 23, 2010 Treasury Bill 33.12%
 3. Phenomenome Discoveries Inc. Debt 9.96%
 4. Concentra Financial Due January 31, 2011 Term Deposit 8.30%
 5. Affinity Credit Union Due November 4, 2010 Term Deposit 3.32%
 6. Affinity Credit Union Due February 20, 2011 Term Deposit 3.32%

venture Investments – By Sector 

Biotechnology 100.00%
   100.00%
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policieS And pRActiceS of the fund

Corporate Governance

Golden Opportunities Fund Inc. (the “Fund”) has developed a corporate governance policy  
(the “Corporate Governance Policy”), having regard to what are generally considered to be the  
best corporate governance policies and practices for public companies.

The Corporate Governance Policy specifies the principles and practices applicable to governance 
of the Fund and, in particular, establishes a framework for relevant governance, process, policies 
and controls applicable to the Fund. In addition to the Corporate Governance Policy, the Fund 
has adopted other policies and practices that it views as being consistent with the best corporate 
governance policies and practices. The Fund has also implemented procedures that will assist the 
Board and the Fund Manager, Westcap Mgt. Ltd. (the “Manager”), in achieving the policies set forth 
in the Corporate Governance Policy.

The following is a summary of certain matters addressed in the Corporate Governance Policy:

•	 	Objective	–	The	purpose	of	the	Corporate	Governance	Policy	is	to	maintain	strong	corporate	
governance standards and policies for the Fund.

•	 	Structure	and	Constitution	of	the	Board	–	The	structure	of	the	Board	will	be	in	accordance	with	 
The Labour-Sponsored Venture Capital Corporations Act (Manitoba) (the “Manitoba Act”)  
and The Labour-sponsored Venture Capital Corporations Act (Saskatchewan) (the “Saskatchewan 
Act”) and will be comprised of business executives and professionals with a wide range of industry 
experience. In addition, a majority of the Board will be independent of the Manager.

•	 	Standards	of	Conduct	and	Code	of	Ethics	–	In	addition	to	the	duties	of	officers	and	directors	
provided for in The Business Corporations Act (Saskatchewan), the officers and directors of the 
Fund will be governed by the CFA Institute Code of Ethics and Standards of Professional Conduct.

•	 	Compensation	and	Insurance	–	The	Corporate	Governance	Policy	sets	out	the	compensation	
structure for directors. The Fund will provide insurance for directors, officers and members of the 
independent review committee against liability incurred by them in such capacity.

•	 	Strategic	Planning	–	On	at	least	an	annual	basis,	the	Fund	will	approve	an	operating	budget	for	the	
upcoming year and will review the actual to budgeted results of the previous year.

•	 	Officers	–	The	Board	has	the	authority	to	appoint	the	officers	and	there	are	currently	two	officers	of	
the Fund.

•	 	The	Manager	–	The	duties	and	responsibilities	of	the	Manager	are	as	set	out	in	a	management	
agreement entered in between the Fund and the Manager dated December 31, 2008.

•	 	Shareholder	Communications	–	Annually,	the	Fund	will	send	an	annual	report,	annual	audited	
financial statements and an annual management report of fund performance, in addition to all 
required meeting material for the Fund’s annual general meeting, to its shareholders. Semi-annually, 
the Fund will send unaudited semi-annual interim financial statements and an interim management 
report of Fund performance to its shareholders. The Fund has adopted a privacy policy related to 
the protection of confidential information of its shareholders.
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The Fund is committed to continually reviewing and improving its corporate governance practices. 
In that respect, the Fund intends to review the Corporate Governance Policy and its corporate 
governance practices on an annual basis and implement changes considered appropriate for the 
Fund from time to time.

The Corporate Governance Policy is available for inspection during regular business hours at the head 
office of the Fund at Suite 830, 410 – 22nd Street East, Saskatoon, SK, S7K 5T6.

Business Operations

For both the Class A and Class I shares the Board approves an annual operating plan and budget. 
Both share classes made venture investments during the year and the Fund continues to meet all 
investment pacing targets.

Class A shares 
For the year ended August 31, 2010 the Fund met its investment and operating objectives. The 
Fund made new venture investments of $28.3 million including its first investment in Manitoba with 
an $800,000 investment in WestMan Exploration Ltd., an oil & gas exploration and development 
company. The Fund had total net results of operations of positive $4.6 million or $0.41 per share. 
The Fund met its operating objectives as the investment loss for the year, revenue less expenses, 
improved from $824,000 in 2009 to $190,000 in 2010, a decrease of 77%. The $190,000 investment 
loss represents 0.1% of the net assets. The Fund continues to have strong shareholder support in the 
Saskatchewan market and is rebuilding confidence in the Manitoba market.

In the upcoming year the Fund intends to expand its shareholder base in the markets it serves. The 
Fund will continue to manage expenses and focus on creating shareholder value within its venture 
investment portfolio. The Fund will continue to make new investments and follow-on investments that 
meet the Fund’s investment criteria.

Class I shares 
The Class I share class was launched in January 2009. For the year ended August 31, 2010 the 
Fund continued to build its Class I shareholder base in both Saskatchewan and Manitoba. The Fund 
made its initial Class I investment with a $270,000 investment in Phenomenome Discoveries Inc. a 
Saskatoon-based biotechnology company. For the year, the Fund Manager agreed to assume all net 
costs of the share class; as a result the investment loss for the year, revenue less expenses, was nil.

To demonstrate their commitment to the long-term success of the Class I share class, the Manager 
and the principal distributor, Wellington West Capital Inc., have each agreed that their management 
and marketing service fees, respectively, on the Class I share class will remain unearned until such 
time that $5.0 million in gross subscriptions is achieved. The Manager further demonstrated its 
commitment to the innovation sector and the Class I share class by agreeing to assume all startup  
and net costs of the share class until December 31, 2010.

For the upcoming year the Fund intends to increase the amount of Class I share capital raised  
in both Saskatchewan and Manitoba. The Fund will make additional venture investments that meet  
the investment criteria.
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policieS And pRActiceS of the fund

Compensation and Expenses

Directors of the Fund, other than those persons who are also directors, officers, or employees of the 
Manager, are entitled to receive a fee of $400 per day for each Board or committee meeting attended 
or $200 if the Board or committee meeting is less than one hour in duration. The aforementioned 
restriction currently applies to Grant J. Kook and Douglas W. Banzet. No annual fee is payable in 
addition to the per diem fee for attending Board or committee meetings. In addition, all directors are 
entitled to be reimbursed for expenses incurred in attending Board and committee meetings.

The following table summarizes the compensation received by the Fund’s Board of Directors during 
the year ended August 31, 2010. The amounts indicated include independent review committee fees 
received by members of the Board of Directors and all Board and committee meetings the Director 
attended during the year.

 Director Other Travel Other 
Director Fees Compensation Expenses Expenses

Hon. William (Bill) McKnight 
Director and Chairman of the Board  $ 3,200 $ – $ – $ –

Brian L. Barber 
Director, Vice-Chairman of the Board  
  and Chairman of the Audit Committee $ 3,800 $ – $ – $ –

Bob Ellard 
Director and Chairman of  
  the Valuation Committee $ 2,400 $ – $ – $ –

Donald R. Ching 
Director and Chairman of  
  the Investment Committee $ 2,800 $ – $ – $ –

Lorraine Sali 
Director and Chairman of  
  the Governance and  
  Nominations Committee $ 2,000 $ – $ – $ –

Ron S. Waldman 
Director $ 2,400 $ – $ – $ –

Thomas A. Shepherd 
Director $ 4,200 $ – $ – $ –

Grant J. Kook 
Director, President and CEO $ – $ – $ – $ –

Douglas W. Banzet 
Director and CFO $ – $ – $ – $ –

Total $ 20,800 $ – $ – $ –
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The Fund has engaged the Manager to manage all aspects of the Fund. The Manager charges a 
management fee based upon the pricing net asset value of the Fund and is responsible for the 
employment and payment of all salaries of the Manager’s staff. As such the Fund does not have any 
employees and the two officers of the Fund are not directly compensated by the Fund.

Policies and Practices for Use of Financial and Other Resources

The Fund plans to make investments in small and medium-sized Saskatchewan eligible businesses 
and Manitoba eligible business entities, with the objective of achieving long-term capital 
appreciation. The Fund will use its financial and other resources to achieve this objective.

Risk Factors

The risks associated with making investments in the Fund are described in the Fund’s Prospectus 
under the section “Risk Factors”. A copy of the Fund’s Prospectus can be obtained by calling  
1-866-261-5686, visiting the Fund’s website at www.goldenopportunities.ca, by writing to the  
Fund at Suite 830, 410 – 22nd Street East, Saskatoon, SK, S7K 5T6 or by visiting SEDAR’s website  
at www.sedar.com.

valuation Policy

The Fund’s process for valuing its Class A and Class I shares is described in the Fund’s Prospectus 
under the section “Calculation of Net Asset value”. A copy of the Fund’s Prospectus can be obtained 
by calling 1-866-261-5686, visiting the Fund’s website at www.goldenopportunities.ca, by writing to 
the Fund at Suite 830, 410 – 22nd Street East, Saskatoon, SK, S7K 5T6 or by visiting SEDAR’s website 
at www.sedar.com.

Financial Reserves

The Fund has developed a Liquid Reserve Policy to maintain available reserves to meet the financial 
obligations or potential obligations of the Fund. The reserves of the Fund will be invested in eligible 
investment instruments with the objectives of maintaining the principal balance and earning a 
sufficient return on investment that is commensurate with the risk taken. All liquid reserves will be 
invested as per the terms of all governing legislation and applicable national instruments as well as 
the Tax Credit Trust Agreement between the Fund, the Government of Saskatchewan and Concentra 
Trust. The Liquid Reserve Policy establishes guidelines for the quality of the investments made as well 
as the amount to be maintained on reserve. The Fund reviews its Liquid Reserve Policy on an annual 
basis and implements changes as required.

As at the year ended August 31, 2010, the Fund had complied with its Liquid Reserve Policy.
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policieS And pRActiceS of the fund

Investment Policy

The Fund plans to make investments in small and medium-sized Saskatchewan eligible businesses 
and Manitoba eligible business entities, with the objective of achieving long-term capital 
appreciation. The Saskatchewan share capital raised is invested as per the Saskatchewan Act and 
the Manitoba share capital raised is invested as per the Manitoba Act. The Fund will not invest more 
than 10% of the net assets of the Class A shares or more than 10% of the net assets of the Class I 
shares, both as taken at market value at the time of such investment, in any one eligible business or 
eligible business entity, other than where the securities are issued or guaranteed by the Government 
of Canada, the Government of any Province or Territory in Canada or the Government of the United 
States of America.

With the proceeds of the offering raised from the issuance of the Class A shares, the Fund will invest 
in a range of businesses from a broad cross-section of the economy that may include, among others, 
eligible businesses and eligible business entities involved in the biotechnology, renewable energy, 
technology, oil and gas, agriculture, services and manufacturing sectors of the economy to the extent 
permitted by the Saskatchewan Act in the case of Saskatchewan share capital raised and to the extent 
permitted by the Manitoba Act in the case of Manitoba share capital raised.

With the proceeds of the offering raised from the issuance of the Class I shares, the Fund will 
invest in a portfolio of innovation companies, which may include sectors such as information and 
communication technology, life sciences, biotechnology, industrial biotechnology, clean technology, 
value-added agriculture, and advanced manufacturing rather than a broad cross-section of the 
economy as is the case with the proceeds from the issuance of the Class A shares.

A full description of the Fund’s Investment Policy is contained in the Fund’s Prospectus under the 
sections “Investment Objectives”, “Investment Strategies”, “Overview Of The Sectors That The 
Fund Invests In”, and “Investment Restrictions”. A copy of the Fund’s Prospectus can be obtained  
by calling 1-866-261-5686, visiting the Fund’s website at www.goldenopportunities.ca, by writing  
to the Fund at Suite 830, 410 – 22nd Street East, Saskatoon, SK, S7K 5T6 or by visiting SEDAR’s 
website at www.sedar.com. 



25

To the Shareholders of Golden Opportunities Fund Inc.

The financial statements are the responsibility of management and have been approved by the  
Board of Directors.

The financial statements have been prepared by management based on the information available to 
October 26, 2010 and are in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles and 
reflect management’s best estimates and judgments.

Management has established systems of internal controls which are designed to provide reasonable 
assurance that assets are safeguarded from loss or unauthorized use and to produce reliable 
accounting records for the preparation of financial information.

The Board of Directors discharges its duties relating to the financial statements primarily through the 
activities of its Audit and Valuation Committee (the “Committee”), which is composed of members 
of the Board of Directors. The Committee has a responsibility for determining the value of the Fund’s 
assets, the net asset value of the Fund and the net asset value of the Class A and Class I Shares of the 
Fund at August 31, 2010.

The Committee meets with management to ensure that management is performing responsibly 
to maintain financial controls and systems, and to review the financial statements of the Fund. The 
Committee also meets with the independent auditors to discuss the audit approach, the review 
of internal account controls and the results of their examination, prior to submitting the financial 
statements to the Board of Directors and recommending their approval by the shareholders, and the 
engagement or re-appointment of the external auditors.

The financial statements have been audited by Hergott Duval Stack LLP, Chartered Accountants. The 
auditors’ report outlines the scope of their audits and their opinion on the financial statements.

October 26, 2010

 

Grant Kook Douglas W. Banzet
President, CEO & Director CFO & Director

mAnAgement’S ReSponSibilitY foR finAnciAl RepoRting
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AuditoR’S RepoRt

To the Shareholders of Golden Opportunities Fund Inc.

We have audited the statement of net assets of Golden Opportunities Fund Inc. as at  
August 31, 2010 and 2009, the statement of investment portfolio as at August 31, 2010  
and the statements of operations, changes in net assets, and cash flows for the years then  
ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Fund’s management. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. 
Those standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance  
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining,  
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An 
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by  
the Fund’s management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Fund as at August 31, 2010 and 2009, the results of its operations and the changes 
in net assets and cash flows for the years then ended, in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted accounting principles.

Saskatoon, Saskatchewan
October 26, 2010 Chartered Accountants
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 2010 2009

 Class A Class I Total Class A Class I Total

ASSetS
Cash $ 16,895 $ 1,312 $ 18,207 $ 12,077 $ 914 $ 12,991
Marketable securities, at fair value (a)  14,300  1,448   15,748  25,300  295  25,595
Subscriptions receivable  26  1  27  33  5  38
Accrued interest and other receivables  3,040  16  3,056   1,464  1  1,465
Funds held in escrow (Note 11)  821  –  821  801  –  801
Venture investments, at fair value (a)  131,484  300  131,784  106,070  –  106,070

    166,566  3,077   169,643   145,745  1,215   146,960

liAbilitieS
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  1,547  4  1,551  1,349  –   1,349
Redemptions payable  39  –  39  25  –  25
Loss support program contribution 
 (Note 12)  –  54  54  –  –  –
Contingent incentive  
 participation amount  6,442  6  6,448  4,245  –  4,245

   8,028  64  8,092  5,619  –  5,619

net ASSetS

Net assets (Note 3) $ 158,538 $ 3,013 $ 161,551 $ 140,126 $ 1,215 $ 141,341

Number of shares outstanding 
 (Note 3) 11,698,253  298,892  10,528,172  121,464

Net assets per share (b) (c) $ 13.55 $ 10.08   $ 13.31   $ 10.00

       

(a) Refer to Statement of Investment Portfolio for cost values.
(b) Pricing net asset value per Class A share as at August 31, 2010 is $13.59 (August 31, 2009 – $13.35). See Note 10 for calculation details.
(c) Pricing net asset value per Class I share as at August 31, 2010 is $10.08 (August 31, 2009 – $10.00). See Note 10 for details.

Approved by the Board

 Vice Chairman Director
Brian Barber Douglas W. Banzet

StAtement of net ASSetS

August 31, 2010
(in thousands of dollars except number of shares and per share amounts)
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Marketable securities

Par value/ 
 Number Issuer and 
 of Units Description of Security Maturity Date Cost Fair value

 2,000,000 Affinity Credit Union, 
   0.75% redeemable term deposit October 27, 2010 $ 2,000 $ 2,000

 3,500,000 Affinity Credit Union, 
   1.17% term deposit October 28, 2010  3,500  3,500

 1,300,000 Concentra Financial, 
   1.174% term deposit January 31, 2011  1,300  1,300

 5,500,000 Affinity Credit Union, 
   1.08% term deposit February 20, 2011  5,500  5,500

 2,000,000 Affinity Credit Union, 
   0.65% redeemable term deposit February 26, 2011  2,000  2,000

Marketable securities (9.02%)*  $ 14,300 $ 14,300

venture investments

 Par value/
 Number Issuer and
 of Shares Description of Security Maturity Date Cost Fair value

  ADC Enterprises 4 Inc., 
 3,500,000  variable rate participating loan December 31, 2015 $ 3,500 $ 3,500

  Big Sky Farms Inc., 
 411,765  common shares   3,500  2

  Big Sky Management Consulting Corp., 
 2,562,311  class A common shares   256  256

  BlackPearl Resources Inc., 
 956,714  common shares   4,653  2,889

  Blackstone Petroleum Ltd., 
 100,000  class A common shares   500  752 
 5,564  stock options   –  14

  BNP (Saskatchewan) Resources Inc., 
 2,142,857  class B convertible preferred shares   1,500  171

  Bonus Energy Ltd., 
 2,500,000  common shares   2,450  378

  BOS Rentals W3 Ltd., 
 250,000  series 1 convertible preferred shares   2,250  1,391

  Bregma Materials Solutions Ltd., 
 30,000  class G convertible preferred shares   300  – 
 108,333  14% demand debenture   108  –

  Can Pro Ingredients Ltd., 
 2,100,000  class A common shares   2,100  – 
 1,011,210  14% debenture July 9, 2017  1,011  1,011 
 960,000  class C preferred shares   960  3,060 
 847,200  20% senior secured note September 15, 2010  847  847

StAtement of inVeStment poRtfolio – clASS A ShAReS

August 31, 2010
(in thousands of dollars except par value/number of units)
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 venture investments (continued)

 Par value/
 Number Issuer and
 of Shares Description of Security Maturity Date Cost Fair value

  CanElson Drilling Inc., 
 2,131,050  common shares  $ 5,004 $ 4,901

  Cevena Bioproducts Inc., 
 2,469,136  common shares   1,236  100

  Cipher Energy Inc., 
 97,265  common shares   97  –

  Connect Energy Holdings Ltd., 
 90  class A common shares   –  3,563

  Connect Energy Partnership, 
 10,000,000  6% debenture December 31, 2014  10,000  10,000

  Cordy Oilfield Services Inc., 
 60,000  common shares   42  9

  Credence Resources Inc., 
 1  class A common share   –  – 
 100,000  class B common shares   100  100

  Credence Resources Limited Partnership, 
 10,000  limited partnership units   –  1,308 
 8,249,999  variable rate participating loan   8,250  8,250

  Crescent Point Energy Corp., 
 7,683  common shares   130  288

  Del-Air Systems Ltd., 
 5,200  class I convertible preferred shares   260  – 
 1  class H preferred share   84  – 
 169,583  14% demand debenture   170  10

  Field Exploration Inc., 
 1  class A common share   –  – 
 100,000  class B common shares   100  100

  Field Exploration Limited Partnership, 
 10,000  limited partnership units   –  – 
 4,150,000  variable rate participating loan   4,150  4,150

  G4 Energy Limited Partnership, 
 2,000,000  class B units   931  1,476

  G5 Energy Limited Partnership, 
 2,000,000  class B units   1,749  1,907

  Golden Health Care Inc., 
 1,148,250  variable rate convertible demand debenture     1,148  1,148 
 690,000  class B preferred shares   690  690 
 441,751  class A common shares   442  1,908

  Hathersage Holdings Inc., 
 560,000  14.75% promissory note June 30, 2012  560  560 
 330,000  share purchase options   –  139

  Input Capital Limited Partnership, 
 250,000  limited partnership units   2,500  2,500
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StAtement of inVeStment poRtfolio – clASS A ShAReS

August 31, 2010
(in thousands of dollars except par value/number of units)

 venture investments (continued)

 Par value/
 Number Issuer and
 of Shares Description of Security Maturity Date Cost Fair value

  Jump.ca Wireless Supply Corp., 
 703,241  class B preferred shares  $ 1,974 $ 3,930

  Just Energy Income Fund, 
 64,552  trust units   734  897

   Kenosee Resources Ltd., 
 200,000  class A common shares   1,000  1,288 
 6,336  stock options   –  9

  Legacy Oil + Gas Inc., 
 352,000  common shares   2,640  3,742

  Lex Energy Partners LP, 
 5,000  limited partnership units   1,750  1,750

  Mahalo Energy Ltd., 
 37,982  common shares   152  –

  NAL Oil & Gas Trust, 
 176,678  trust units   2,163  1,890

  New Media Campus Inc., 
 350,000  15% demand debenture   350  250

  Newton Energy Corporation, 
 50,000  common shares   200  11

  NorAmera BioEnergy Corporation, 
 3,479,050  8% debenture June 30, 2018  3,479  3,479 
 1,041,500  8% debenture November 24, 2019  1,042  1,042 
 2,504,045  class A common shares   2,504  2,504 
 541,045  class B common shares   541  541

  NorAmera Properties Inc., 
 446,250  class A common shares   721  721

  NorAmera Technologies Inc., 
 417  class A common shares   –  – 
 1,988,048  5% demand promissory note   1,988  1,988

  Penn West Energy Trust, 
 12,810  trust units   358  257

  Performance Plants Inc., 
 2,217,141  common shares   4,078  1,086 
 300,000  25% convertible demand promissory note   300  300

  Phenomenome Discoveries Inc.,  
 91,158  class A common shares   2,141  6,381 
 90,099  class B common shares   1,288  6,307 
 563,000  11% convertible debenture March 29, 2015  563  626

  Prairie Plant Systems Inc., 
  519,895  class A common shares   1,471  2,168
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 venture investments (continued)

 Par value/
 Number Issuer and
 of Shares Description of Security Maturity Date Cost Fair value

  Propel Energy Corp., 
 937,500  class A common shares  $ 1,500 $ 146

  Quality Wireline Services Ltd., 
 312,500  16.5% debenture August 30, 2012  313  313 
 16,000  class A common shares   –  635

  Rack Petroleum Ltd., 
 734,900  10% debenture August 5, 2011   735  735

  Renegade Petroleum Ltd., 
 1,000,000  common shares   2,000  2,830

  Safety Seven Manufacturing Inc., 
 20,000  class C preferred shares   200   123 
  100,000  class A common shares   –  – 
  461,149  non-interest bearing promissory note December 21, 2011  461  341

  Solido Design Automation Inc., 
 5,102,041  class B convertible preferred shares   2,000  2,000

  Strategic Resources Inc., 
 760,644  common shares   325  27

  Terra Grain Fuels Inc. (a wholly owned subsidiary 
  of Just Energy Income Fund), 
 5,272,671  10.5% debenture May 9, 2012  5,273  5,273

  Trinidad Drilling Ltd., 
 120,000  common shares   197  600

  Tyvan Oils Ltd., 
 7,777,778  class A common shares   1,500  1,167

  vecima Networks Inc., 
 419,999  common shares   3,150  1,806

  West Mountain Capital Corp., 
12,842,333  common shares   3,653  4,463 
 175,000  stock options   –  24

  Western Building Centres Limited, 
 5,280,000  14.75% demand promissory note   5,280  5,280 
 5,127,850  class A common shares   –  2,256 
 132,000  class G preferred shares   –  132

  WestMan Exploration Ltd., 
 800,000  common shares   800  800

  Weyburn Inland Terminal Ltd., 
 325,561  common shares   1,495  3,988

venture investments at fair value (82.94%)*  $ 121,897 $ 131,484

Total investments at fair value    $ 145,784

*Percentages shown relate investments at fair value to total net assets for Class A shares.
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StAtement of inVeStment poRtfolio – clASS i ShAReS

August 31, 2010
(in thousands of dollars except par value/number of units)

Marketable securities

Par value/ 
 Number Issuer and 
 of Units Description of Security Maturity Date Cost Fair value

 100,000 Affinity Credit Union, 
   1.17% term deposit November 4, 2010 $ 100 $ 100

 1,000,000 Government of Canada, 
   0.72% treasury bill December 23, 2010  998  998

 250,000 Concentra Financial, 
   1.174% term deposit January 31, 2011  250  250

 100,000 Affinity Credit Union, 
   1.08% term deposit February 20, 2011  100  100

Marketable securities (48.05%)**  $ 1,448 $ 1,448

venture investments

 Par value/
 Number Issuer and
 of Shares Description of Security Maturity Date Cost Fair value

 270,000 Phenomenome Discoveries Inc., 
   11% convertible debenture  March 29, 2015 $ 270 $ 300

venture investments at fair value (9.96%)**  $ 270 $ 300

Total investments at fair value    $  1,748

**Percentages shown relate investments at fair value to total net assets for Class I shares.
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 2010 2009 (a)

 Class A Class I Total Class A Class I Total

Investment income

 Interest $ 4,194 $ 21 $ 4,215 $ 3,415 $ 2  $ 3,417
 Dividends  1,341  –  1,341  980  –  980
 Other  193  –  193  106  –   106
 Negotiation fees  61  –   61  46  –  46
   5,789  21  5,810  4,547  2  4,549

Expenses

 Administration fees  619  9  628  573  2  575
 Audit and accounting  60  1  61  59  –  59
 Custodian fees  89  4  93  80  1  81
 Directors’ fees and expenses  20  –  20  22  –  22
 Independent review committee fees  1  –  1  2  –  2
 Legal  61  1  62  50  –  50
 Management fees  3,930  55  3,985  3,460  14  3,474
 Office  62  1  63  68  –  68
 Other costs  224  4  228  234  –  234
 Service fees  748  10  758  659  3  662
 Shareholder communications  165  3  168  164  1  165
   5,979  88  6,067  5,371  21  5,392

Investment loss for the year 
 before undernoted items    (190)  (67)  (257)  (824)  (19)  (843)

 Management fees waived (Note 4)  –  55  55  –  14  14
 Recovered from Fund Manager (Note 4)  –  12  12  –  10  10

Investment (loss) gain for the year  (190)  –  (190)  (824)  5  (819)
Net realized loss on disposition of  
 venture investments  (1,182)  –  (1,182)  (279)  –  (279)
Incentive participation amount (Note 4)  (228)  –  (228)  123  –  123
Increase in contingent incentive  
 participation amount  (2,197)  (6)  (2,203)  (1,168)  –  (1,168)
Increase (decrease) in unrealized  
 appreciation of venture investments  8,413  30  8,443  (5,613)  –  (5,613)

   4,806  24  4,830  (6,937)  –  (6,937)

Total net results of operations for the year $ 4,616 $ 24 $ 4,640 $ (7,761) $ 5 $ (7,756)
Per share (b) 
Investment (loss) gain for the year $ (0.02) $ –   $ (0.08) $ 0.06

Realized and unrealized gains and losses, 
 net of incentive participation amounts  0.43  0.11    (0.70)  –

Total net results of operations per share $ 0.41   $ 0.11   $ (0.78) $ 0.06

(a) Active operations with respect to Class I shares began on January 16, 2009 with the first issuance of Class I shares.
(b) The per share information provided above is calculated based on the average number of shares outstanding during the period.

StAtement of opeRAtionS

Year ended August 31, 2010
(in thousands of dollars except per share amounts)
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 2010 2009 (a)

 Class A Class I Total Class A Class I Total

Operating activities
 Total net results of operations for the year  $ 4,616   $ 24   $ 4,640   $ (7,761)  $ 5   $ (7,756)

Capital transactions
 Proceeds from the issuance of shares  22,595   1,782  24,377  23,272  1,210  24,482
 Redemption of shares  (6,771)  (8)  (6,779)  (5,145)  –  (5,145)
 Share issue costs (Note 3)  (2,028)  –  (2,028)  (2,139)  –  (2,139)

   13,796  1,774  15,570  15,988  1,210  17,198

Increase in net assets for the year  18,412   1,798  20,210  8,227  1,215  9,442

Net assets, beginning of year   140,126  1,215    141,341   131,899  –    131,899

Net assets, end of year $ 158,538   $ 3,013  $ 161,551   $ 140,126   $ 1,215   $ 141,341

Net assets per share (b) (c) (d) $ 13.55 $ 10.08   $ 13.31   $ 10.00

venture investments (e)
During the year, venture investments changed as follows:

Venture investments at fair value,  
 beginning of year $ 106,070 $ – $ 106,070 $ 93,521 $ – $ 93,521
Venture investments purchased  
 during the year  28,318  270  28,588  22,136  –  22,136
Venture investments repaid 
 during the year  (1,039)  –  (1,039)  (2,188)  –  (2,188)
Proceeds from disposition of  
 venture investments  (9,096)  –  (9,096)  (1,507)  –  (1,507)
Net realized loss on disposition of  
 venture investments  (1,182)  –   (1,182)  (279)  –  (279)
Increase (decrease) in unrealized  
 appreciation of venture investments  8,413  30  8,443  (5,613)  –  (5,613)

venture investments at fair value,  
 end of year $ 131,484 $ 300  $ 131,784 $ 106,070 $ – $ 106,070

(a) Active operations with respect to Class I shares began on January 16, 2009 with the first issuance of Class I shares.
(b) Net assets per Class A share: 2008 – $14.40; 2007 – $14.31; 2006 – $13.57.
(c) Pricing net asset value per Class A share: 2010 – $13.59; 2009 – $13.35; 2008 – $14.51; 2007 – $14.40; 2006 – $13.74.
(d) Pricing net asset value per Class I share: 2010 – $10.08; 2009 – $10.00.
(e) Marketable securities transactions – see Note 5.

StAtement of chAngeS in net ASSetS

Year ended August 31, 2010
(in thousands of dollars except per share amounts)
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 2010 2009 (a)

 Class A Class I Total Class A Class I Total

Cash flows from operating activities
 Investment (loss) gain for the year $ (190) $ – $ (190) $ (824) $ 5 $ (819)
 Venture investments purchased  (28,318)   (270)   (28,588)  (22,136)  –  (22,136)
 Venture investments repaid  1,039  –  1,039  2,188  –  2,188
 Proceeds on disposition of venture  
    investments  9,096  –  9,096  1,507  –  1,507
 Incentive participation amount  (228)  –  (228)  123  –   123
 Increase in contingent incentive  
    participation amount  (2,197)  (6)  (2,203)  (1,168)  –  (1,168)
 Net change in marketable securities  11,000  (1,153)  9,847  5,612  (295)  5,317
 Net change in non-cash working capital  
    balances relating to operations  820  53  873  1,090  (6)  1,084 

   (8,978)  (1,376)  (10,354)  (13,608)  (296)   (13,904)

Cash flows from financing activities
 Proceeds from the issuance of shares  22,595  1,782   24,377  23,272  1,210  24,482
 Redemption of shares  (6,771)  (8)  (6,779)  (5,145)  –  (5,145)
 Share issue costs  (2,028)  –   (2,028)  (2,139)  –  (2,139)

   13,796  1,774  15,570  15,988  1,210  17,198

Net increase in cash  4,818  398  5,216  2,380  914  3,294 
Cash, beginning of year  12,077  914   12,991  9,697  –  9,697

Cash, end of year $ 16,895 $ 1,312 $ 18,207  $ 12,077 $ 914 $ 12,991

The net change in non-cash working capital balances
  is comprised of the following:
 Increase in accrued interest and  
    other receivables  $ (1,576)  $ (15)  $ (1,591)  $ (510)  $ (1)  $ (511)
 Decrease (increase) in subscriptions receivable 7   4  11  42  (5)  37
 (Increase) decrease in funds held in escrow  (20)  –  (20)  526  –  526
 Increase in redemptions payable  14  –  14  10  –  10
 Increase in accounts payable and  
    accrued liabilities  198   4  202  142  –  142
 Increase in loss support program  
    contribution  –  54  54  –  –  –
 Increase in contingent incentive  
    participation amount  2,197  6  2,203  1,168  –  1,168
 Decrease in incentive participation  
    amount payable  –  –  –  (288)  –  (288)

   $ 820   $ 53   $ 873   $ 1,090   $ (6)  $ 1,084 

(a) Active operations with respect to Class I shares began on January 16, 2009 with the first issuance of Class I shares.

StAtement of cASh flowS

Year ended August 31, 2010
(in thousands of dollars)



36

noteS to the finAnciAl StAtementS

August 31, 2010
(in thousands of dollars except number of shares and per share amounts)

 1. Corporate status and activities

Golden Opportunities Fund Inc. (the “Fund”) was incorporated under the laws of Saskatchewan 
by Articles of Incorporation on December 8, 1997. The Fund was registered as an extra provincial 
corporation to carry on business under the laws of Manitoba on September 30, 2008. The Fund 
is registered as a labour-sponsored venture capital corporation under The Labour-sponsored 
Venture Capital Corporations Act (Saskatchewan) (the “Saskatchewan Act”) and The Labour-
Sponsored Venture Capital Corporations Act (Manitoba) (the “Manitoba Act”). The Fund is 
taxable as a mutual fund corporation and is a prescribed Labour-sponsored Venture Capital 
Corporation under the Income Tax Act (Canada) (the “Federal Act”).

On December 24, 2008, the Fund amended its Articles of Incorporation to rename its issued 
Class A shares as Class A (SK) shares and to create the Class A (MB) shares, the Class I (SK) shares 
and the Class I (MB) shares. The Federal and Saskatchewan Acts allow a Saskatchewan resident 
individual to invest in Class A (SK) shares or Class I (SK) shares of the Fund and obtain a personal 
income tax credit. The Federal and Manitoba Acts allow a Manitoba resident individual to invest 
in Class A (MB) shares or Class I (MB) shares of the Fund and obtain a personal income tax credit. 
The Fund’s Class A shares include both the Class A (SK) shares and the Class A (MB) shares and 
the Fund’s Class I shares include both the Class I (SK) and the Class I (MB) shares.

The Fund issued Class A (SK) shares at an initial offering price of $10 per share and thereafter, 
issued both Class A (SK) shares and Class A (MB) shares at a continuous offering price equal to 
the pricing net asset value per Class A share. The Fund’s pricing net asset value per share is the 
price at which shares are issued and redeemed. The Fund commenced active operations on 
March 1, 1999, on the initial issue of its Class A (SK) shares.

The Fund issued Class I shares at an initial offering price of $10 per share and thereafter, at 
a continuous offering price equal to the pricing net asset value per Class I share. The Fund 
commenced active operations with respect to the Class I shares on January 16, 2009, on the 
initial issue of its Class I shares.

The Fund makes investments in small and medium-sized eligible Saskatchewan businesses 
and Manitoba business entities, as defined in the Saskatchewan Act and the Manitoba Act 
respectively, with the objective of achieving long-term capital appreciation. The Fund will invest 
the proceeds raised from the issuance of the Class I shares in innovation companies, rather than 
a broad cross-section of the economy as is the case with the proceeds from the issuance of the 
Class A shares.

The sponsor of the Fund is the Construction and General Workers’ Union Local 180 (the “Sponsor”).
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 2. Significant accounting policies

These financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with  
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). The significant accounting  
policies are as follows:

Marketable securities
Marketable securities are valued at amortized cost, which approximates fair value.

venture investments
Venture investments in eligible businesses, having quoted market values and being publicly 
traded on a recognized stock exchange, are recorded at values based on the quoted bid prices.

Venture investments in eligible businesses, not having quoted market values, are stated at 
estimated fair value determined using valuation techniques including recent arm’s length 
market transactions, independent valuations, and other commonly used valuation techniques. 
Adjustments to estimated fair value are done as required. Estimated fair value is determined 
on the basis of the amount of consideration that would be agreed upon in an arm’s length 
transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties who are under no compulsion to act.  
Details regarding the valuation process of the Fund’s investments in eligible businesses are 
included in its annual Prospectus.

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The process of valuing venture investments in eligible businesses, for which no 
quoted market values exist, is inevitably based on inherent uncertainties and the resulting values 
may be higher or lower by a material amount than those that would have been used had a ready 
market existed for the investments.

Contingent incentive participation amount
An incentive participation amount (“IPA”) equal to 20% of any return derived from an  
eligible investment in any fiscal year is payable to the Fund Manager provided specific criteria  
are met. The contingent IPA is an estimate, based on unrealized gains and excess returns that 
would have been payable had the Fund disposed of its entire venture investment portfolio as  
at August 31, 2010.

Investment transactions and income recognition
Investment transactions are accounted for on the trade date. Gains or losses arising from the sale 
of investments are determined using the average cost basis. Income from investments is recorded 
on an accrual basis. Dividend income is recorded as declared.

Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amount of certain assets and liabilities at the date of these 
financial statements and the reported amounts of certain revenue and expenses during the year.
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noteS to the finAnciAl StAtementS

August 31, 2010
(in thousands of dollars except number of shares and per share amounts)

 2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

Use of estimates (continued)
Significant areas requiring the use of management estimates include assessments of the 
financial condition of investees that might indicate a change in value of a particular investment. 
Assumptions underlying investment valuations are limited by the availability of reliable data and 
the uncertainty of predictions concerning future events.

Financial results as determined by actual events could differ from those estimates and 
assumptions, and the difference could be material.

Adoption of new accounting standard
Effective September 1, 2009, the Fund adopted the amended accounting standard issued by 
the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”) Handbook Section 3862 “Financial 
Instruments – Disclosures” (“Section 3862”) to improve fair value disclosures. Section 3862 now 
requires that all financial instruments measured at fair value be categorized into one of three 
hierarchy levels, described below, for disclosure purposes.

Level 1 – inputs are unadjusted quoted prices of identical instruments in active markets. 
Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset  
or liability, either directly or indirectly. 
Level 3 – inputs used in a valuation technique are unobservable in determining fair values of  
the instruments.

A change in valuation methodology may result in the reclassification into or out of an investment’s 
assigned level. The amendments only impact the Fund’s disclosure. Please refer to Note 13.

 3. Net assets and share capital

The net assets of the Fund for each respective class of shares represent the net issued share 
capital together with the cumulative operating retained earnings and net realized and unrealized 
gains on investments. As at August 31, 2010, the retained earnings of the Fund’s Class A shares 
amounted to $10,870 (2009 – $6,254) and the retained earnings of the Fund’s Class I shares 
amounted to $29 (2009 – $5).

The subscription proceeds raised through the issuance of each class of shares will be invested 
separately from the proceeds raised from the issuance of the other classes of shares. Net asset 
values, and corresponding pricing net asset values, are calculated for the Fund’s Class A and  
Class I shares respectively, and are reflected separately in these financial statements. Income or 
losses attributable to a specific venture investment will only be reflected in either Class A share 
assets or Class I share assets, as applicable.

Costs and expenses not specifically identifiable to either of the Class A or Class I shares are 
allocated, at the time the costs and expenses are incurred, on the basis of the relative share 
capital of a collective class as a proportion of the total share capital of the Class A and Class I 
shares as at the latest available weekly net asset valuation. 
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 3. Net assets and share capital (continued)

The following is a description of the authorized and issued share capital:

Authorized

An unlimited number of
Class A (SK) shares, issued at an initial offering price of $10 per share and thereafter issued 

at the pricing net asset value per Class A share to eligible investors and certain RRSPs, are 
subject to restrictions on transfer and redemption in accordance with legislation governing 
labour-sponsored venture capital corporations and the Fund’s articles. The shares are 
voting, together with Class A (MB) shares and Class I shares entitled to elect a minority of 
the Directors of the Fund, entitled to receive dividends at the discretion of the Board of 
Directors and may be transferred to certain RRIFs. Under certain circumstances, the shares are 
redeemable at the pricing net asset value less any redemption fee.

Class A (MB) shares, issued at the pricing net asset value per Class A share to eligible investors 
and certain RRSPs, are subject to restrictions on transfer and redemption in accordance with 
legislation governing labour-sponsored venture capital corporations and the Fund’s articles. 
The shares are voting, together with Class A (SK) shares and Class I shares entitled to elect 
a minority of the Directors of the Fund, entitled to receive dividends at the discretion of the 
Board of Directors and may be transferred to certain RRIFs. Under certain circumstances, the 
shares are redeemable at the pricing net asset value less any redemption fee.

Class C shares, issuable in one or more series, with the number of shares, designation, rights, 
privileges, restrictions and conditions attached to each series, to be determined by the Board 
of Directors, as approved by the Saskatchewan Minister and the Manitoba Minister, at the 
time of creation of a particular series.

Class I (SK) shares, issued at an initial offering price of $10 per share and thereafter issued 
at the pricing net asset value per Class I share to eligible investors and certain RRSPs, are 
subject to restrictions on transfer and redemption in accordance with legislation governing 
labour-sponsored venture capital corporations and the Fund’s articles. The shares are 
voting, together with Class I (MB) shares and Class A shares entitled to elect a minority of 
the Directors of the Fund, entitled to receive dividends at the discretion of the Board of 
Directors and may be transferred to certain RRIFs. Under certain circumstances, the shares are 
redeemable at the pricing net asset value less any redemption fee.

Class I (MB) shares, issued at an initial offering price of $10 per share and thereafter issued 
at the pricing net asset value per Class I share to eligible investors and certain RRSPs, are 
subject to restrictions on transfer and redemption in accordance with legislation governing 
labour-sponsored venture capital corporations and the Fund’s articles. The shares are 
voting, together with Class I (SK) shares and Class A shares entitled to elect a minority of 
the Directors of the Fund, entitled to receive dividends at the discretion of the Board of 
Directors and may be transferred to certain RRIFs. Under certain circumstances, the shares are 
redeemable at the pricing net asset value less any redemption fee.
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noteS to the finAnciAl StAtementS

August 31, 2010
(in thousands of dollars except number of shares and per share amounts)

 3. Net assets and share capital (continued)

A limited number of 
10 Class B shares, issuable only to the Sponsor or permissible employee organizations, are  

non-participating, voting and entitled to elect a simple majority of the Board of Directors of 
the Fund. The shares are redeemable at the option of the Fund at the subscription price.

 Issued for cash
 2010 2009

 Shares $ Shares $
Class A (SK) shares

  Beginning of the year 10,466,639 $ 133,104 9,160,392 $ 117,884
   Shares issued 1,596,377  21,588 1,694,154  22,459
   Share issue costs –  (1,977) –  (2,094)
   Share redemptions (500,817)  (6,771) (387,907)  (5,145)
  End of the year 11,562,199  145,944  10,466,639  133,104

Class A (MB) shares
  Beginning of the year 61,533  768 –  –

  Shares issued 74,535  1,007 61,533  813
  Share issue costs –  (51) –  (45)
  Share redemptions (14)  – –  –
 End of the year 136,054  1,724 61,533  768

Class B shares
 Beginning of the year 10  – 10  –
  Shares issued –  – –  –
 End of the year 10  – 10  –

Total for Class A and Class B shares 11,698,263 $ 147,668 10,528,182 $ 133,872

Class I (SK) shares
 Beginning of the year 121,203 $ 1,207 – $ –
  Shares issued 174,441  1,745 121,203  1,207
  Share issue costs –  – –  –
  Share redemptions (778)  (8) –  –
 End of the year 294,866  2,944 121,203  1,207

Class I (MB) shares
 Beginning of the year 261  3 –  –
  Shares issued 3,765  37 261  3
  Share issue costs –  – –  –
  Share redemptions –  – –  –

 End of the year 4,026  40 261  3

Total for Class I shares 298,892 $ 2,984 121,464 $ 1,210
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 3. Net assets and share capital (continued)

The Fund’s principal distributor does not earn the marketing service fee on Class I shares until the 
Fund has reached $5,000 in gross subscriptions on Class I shares, at which time the fees would be 
payable. All other share issue costs to date relating to the Class I shares have been recovered on 
a non-recourse basis from the Fund Manager, Westcap Mgt. Ltd.

 4. Expenses

Management expenses
The Fund has retained Westcap Mgt. Ltd., a related party, as the Fund Manager (“Manager”) by 
agreement dated December 31, 2008 (previous agreement dated January 13, 1998), to manage 
all aspects of the Fund. In consideration of the performance by the Manager of its duties, the 
Manager received an annual management fee, calculated and payable monthly, equal to 2.5% of 
the aggregate pricing net asset value for each of Class A and Class I shares as at each valuation 
date. The Manager does not earn the management fee on Class I shares until the Fund has 
reached $5,000 in gross subscriptions on Class I shares, at which time the fees would be payable.

In addition, the Manager is entitled to an IPA equal to 20% of any return derived from an eligible 
investment of the Fund (excluding the first 10% of interest and dividend income earned and any 
commitment or work fees paid to the Fund in connection with the investment) in any fiscal year 
provided that: on a Class by Class basis, the Fund has earned sufficient income to generate a 
rate of return on all venture investments which is greater than the five-year average GIC rate of 
Concentra Financial plus 1.5% on an annualized basis; has earned sufficient income from the 
particular investment to provide a cumulative investment return at an average annual rate in 
excess of 10% since investment; and, has recouped an amount from the venture investment, 
through income earned, liquidation of the investment, or otherwise, equal to all the principal 
invested in the particular venture investment. During the year, an IPA in respect of the Class A 
shares was paid or payable to the Manager in the amount of $228 (2009 – net IPA recovery of 
$123) on realized gains on the disposition of venture investments and excess returns. The 2009 
net IPA recovery results from a reversal of an overaccrual of the 2008 IPA payable to the Manager. 
On an annualized basis, the IPA was 0.15% (2009 – net IPA recovery of 0.09%) expressed as a 
percentage of average pricing net asset value for Class A shares for the year. There was no IPA 
paid or payable in respect of Class I shares during the year or for the prior year.

An estimated contingent IPA in respect of the Class A shares in the amount of $6,442 (2009 – 
$4,245) has been reflected in the financial statements in respect of unrealized gains and excess 
returns as at August 31, 2010. The increase in the estimated contingent IPA of $2,197 during the 
year (2009 – $1,168) represents an increase of 1.47% (2009 – 0.88%) expressed as a percentage, 
on an annualized basis, of average pricing net asset value for Class A shares for the year.

An estimated contingent IPA in respect of the Class I shares in the amount of $6 has been 
reflected in the financial statements in respect of unrealized gains and excess returns as at 
August 31, 2010. The increase in the estimated contingent IPA of $6 during the year represents 
an increase of 0.30% expressed as a percentage, on an annualized basis, of average pricing net 
asset value for Class I shares for the year.
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noteS to the finAnciAl StAtementS

August 31, 2010
(in thousands of dollars except number of shares and per share amounts)

 4. Expenses (continued)

Management expenses (continued)
The Manager currently acts as a manager of the Fund’s liquid portfolio. The Fund is responsible 
for any fees and expenses paid to any third party for liquid portfolio management services should 
the Manager no longer provide these services to the Fund.

Administration expenses
The Fund has retained Citigroup Fund Services Canada Inc. (“Citigroup”) to provide certain 
services to the Fund, including processing of sales orders and maintaining shareholder records. 
The transfer agent agreement dated January 14, 1998 was assigned to Citigroup as a result of 
Citigroup acquiring the fund accounting and record keeping business of Unisen Inc. The Fund 
has retained Concentra Trust as the Fund’s Custodian and Bare Trustee by agreements dated 
December 22, 1997 and December 17, 1997, respectively.

Organization expenses
The initial fund organization expenses have been paid by the Manager and are not recoverable 
from the Fund by the Manager.

Direct expenses
The Fund pays all direct costs and expenses incurred in the operation of the Fund, such as 
directors’ fees, custodian fees, insurance, legal, audit, and valuation expenses. Direct costs and 
expenses incurred during the year relating to the Class I shares in excess of investment income 
earned were recovered on a non-recourse basis from the Manager. During the year, the Fund did 
not incur any commission expense on its liquid portfolio transactions.

Service fees
On April 1, 2002, the Fund began paying a quarterly service fee to its selling agents equal to 
0.5% of the aggregate pricing net asset value of the Fund. During the year, the Fund incurred 
service fees of $748 (2009 – $659) on Class A shares. Service fees of $10 (2009 – $3) incurred 
by the Class I shares during the year are included in direct costs and expenses in excess of 
investment income earned which were recovered on a non-recourse basis from the Manager.

 5. Note to the Statement of Changes in Net Assets

The changes in marketable securities at cost are as follows:

   2010 2009

Marketable securities – Class A shares
 Marketable securities, beginning of year $ 25,300 $ 30,912
 Marketable securities purchased during the year  25,200  86,744
 Proceeds on marketable securities redeemed during the year  (36,200)  (92,356)
 Marketable securities at cost, end of year $ 14,300 $ 25,300

Marketable securities – Class I shares
 Marketable securities, beginning of year $ 295 $ –
 Marketable securities purchased during the year  2,193  590
 Proceeds on marketable securities redeemed during the year  (1,040)  (295)
 Marketable securities at cost, end of year $ 1,448 $ 295
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 6. Sales commissions

Prior to December 31, 2003, the Fund’s principal distributor (the “Agent”) paid a selling group 
of dealers to distribute the Class A shares in Saskatchewan. The Fund paid to the Agent and 
members of the selling group originating the sale, a sales commission equal to 6% of the selling 
price for each Class A share. The Fund also paid to the Agent an additional commission equal to 
0.75% of the selling price for each Class A share for distribution services.

Beginning January 1, 2004, the Fund was no longer responsible to pay sales commissions on 
the sale of its shares, but rather it has engaged an arm’s length party (the “Party”) to assume 
this responsibility. As remuneration for managing the payment of the commissions, the Fund has 
agreed to pay an annual percentage based payment (“percentage based payments”) to the Party 
of 0.75% (0.77% as of January 1, 2005 and 0.95% as of January 1, 2006) of the gross proceeds 
(net of redemptions as of January 1, 2005) raised in any calendar year on the sale of Class A or 
Class I shares over eight consecutive years.

Also, as remuneration for distribution services being provided by the agents, the Fund has agreed 
to pay the agents, beginning on January 1, 2004, an aggregate annual marketing service fee 
(“marketing service fee”) of 1% on the first $5,000 of gross proceeds from the sale of Class A or 
Class I shares by all registered dealers, including the agents, during each calendar year, 1.25% 
on the next $5,000 of gross proceeds, and 1.5% of any additional gross proceeds (as of January 
1, 2007, the marketing service fee is 1.25% on the first $10,000 of gross proceeds, 1% on the 
next $10,000 of gross proceeds, and 0.75% of any additional gross proceeds). The Agent does 
not earn the marketing service fee on Class I shares until the Fund has reached $5,000 in gross 
subscriptions on Class I shares, at which time the fees would be payable.

On Class A shares, percentage based payments of $1,231 (2009 – $1,014) and marketing service 
fees of $244 (2009 – $250) have been incurred in the current year. On Class I shares, percentage 
based payments of $24 (2009 – $7) incurred in the current year have been recovered on a non-
recourse basis from the Manager. Marketing service fees of $13 (2009 – $9) on Class I shares were 
unearned for the year.

 7. Income taxes

Under the Federal Act, no taxes are generally payable by the Fund on dividends received from 
Canadian corporations, and income taxes payable on capital gains are substantially refundable 
on a formula basis when shares of the Fund are redeemed or capital gains dividends are paid, or 
deemed to be paid, by the Fund to its shareholders. A portion of the income taxes payable on 
net interest income earned by the Fund is also refundable on payment, or deemed payment, of 
taxable dividends to the shareholders.

The Fund intends to recover all of its refundable income taxes annually through the deemed payment 
of a dividend by capitalizing the appropriate amount of its income as paid-up capital pro rata on 
its Class A or Class I shares, respectively. If, and to the extent that the Fund increases the paid-up 
capital of the Class A or Class I shares, the holder of the shares will be deemed to have received 
a dividend and the adjusted cost base of the holder’s shares will be increased by the deemed 
dividend. For the year ended August 31, 2010, the Fund did not distribute any deemed dividends.
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noteS to the finAnciAl StAtementS

August 31, 2010
(in thousands of dollars except number of shares and per share amounts)

 7. Income taxes (continued)

The Saskatchewan Act and the Manitoba Act set minimum levels of eligible investments for the 
Fund. If the minimum level of qualifying eligible investments is not met, the Fund may be subject 
to defined penalties.

As at August 31, 2010, the Fund has non-capital losses available for carryforward of $9,242  
(2009 – $6,732) that will begin to expire in 2014 and capital losses available for carryforward of 
$1,007 (2009 – $nil).

 8. Management expense ratio

Class A shares
The management expense ratio (“MER”) of 6.97% (2009 – 6.47%; 2008 – 6.86%; 2007 – 7.80%; 
2006 – 5.13%) for the year ended August 31, 2010, includes the contingent IPA provision, all 
share issue costs and all other fees and expenses paid or payable (excluding any brokerage fees 
on the purchase and sale of portfolio securities), and is expressed as a percentage of the average 
net asset value administered during the year. If the share issue costs and the contingent IPA 
provision were excluded from this calculation, the MER would have been 4.15% (2009 – 3.97%; 
2008 – 6.00%; 2007 – 4.40%; 2006 – 5.53%).

Class I shares
The MER of 1.30% (2009 – 0.00%) for the year ended August 31, 2010, includes the contingent IPA 
provision, all share issue costs and all other fees and expenses paid or payable, net of recovery from 
the Manager (excluding any brokerage fees on the purchase and sale of portfolio securities), and is 
expressed as a percentage of the average net asset value administered during the year.

During the year, the entire amount of any management fees and any marketing service fee 
remained unearned. The Fund also recovered certain fees and expenses from the Manager during 
the period on a non-recourse basis. Without these fees remaining unearned and the recovery of 
other fees and expenses, the MER would have been 6.59% (2009 – 11.55%). If the share issue 
costs and the contingent IPA provision were excluded from this calculation, the MER would have 
been 4.17% (2009 – 3.90%).

 9. Related party transactions

During the year, management fees, including GST, on Class A shares of $3,930 (2009 – $3,460) 
were paid or payable to the Manager, Westcap Mgt. Ltd., a company controlled by the President 
& Chief Executive Officer of the Fund. An IPA was paid, or was payable, to the Manager on  
Class A shares in the amount of $228 (2009 – net IPA recovery of $123 resulting from a reversal 
of an overaccrual of the 2008 IPA payable to the Manager) and a contingent IPA was accrued on 
Class A shares in the amount of $6,442 (2009 – $4,245).

Management fees of $55 on Class I shares were unearned for the year. A contingent IPA was 
accrued on Class I shares in the amount of $6. There was no IPA with respect to Class I shares for 
the year or for the prior year.
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 9. Related party transactions (continued)

In respect of the Class A shares, office and other costs, including rent, secretarial, janitorial and 
photocopying expenses, totaling $1 (2009 – $9) were paid or payable to Tri-Sec Financial Group 
Ltd., a company controlled by the President & Chief Executive Officer of the Fund, and office and 
other costs totaling $29 were also paid or payable to the Manager. All office and other costs incurred 
during the year in respect of the Class I shares are included in direct costs and expenses in excess 
of investment income earned which were recovered on a non-recourse basis from the Manager.

At year end, the accounts payable and accrued liabilities balance for Class A shares includes 
management fees payable of $353 (2009 – $312) and office and other costs payable of $3, both 
due to the Manager. There were no management fees or office and other costs payable in respect 
of Class I shares as at August 31, 2010.

The above-mentioned transactions were in the normal course of operations and are measured 
at the exchange amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the 
related parties.

 10. Reconciliation of GAAP NAv to Pricing NAv

Due to the Fund’s 2004 change in accounting policy (due to implementation of CICA Handbook 
Section 1100) with respect to deferred charges and the adoption of CICA Handbook Section 
3855, “Financial Instruments – Recognition and Measurement” in regards to the fair value of 
publicly traded securities, there is a difference between the net asset value for purchase and 
redemption of the Class A shares (Pricing NAV) and the accounting net assets of the Class A 
shares as shown on the statement of net assets (GAAP NAV). A reconciliation of the two net asset 
values is as follows:

 Class A shares
   2010 2009

 Pricing NAV per Class A share $ 13.59 $ 13.35

 Deferred commission costs $95 
  (2009 – $245) per Class A share  (0.01)  (0.02)

 Adjustments to closing prices $380 
  (2009 – $140) per Class A share  (0.03)  (0.02)

 GAAP NAV per Class A share $ 13.55 $ 13.31

Class I shares
As at August 31, 2010 and at August 31, 2009, there was no difference between Pricing NAV 
and GAAP NAV for the Class I shares with each net asset value being $10.08 per Class I share 
as at August 31, 2010 and $10.00 per Class I share as at August 31, 2009.
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noteS to the finAnciAl StAtementS

August 31, 2010
(in thousands of dollars except number of shares and per share amounts)

 11. Funds held in escrow

As a result of the investment transaction between NorAmera BioEnergy Corporation 
(“NorAmera”), Weyburn Inland Terminal Ltd., and NorAmera shareholders, the NorAmera 
shareholders (including the Fund) were required to place cash and other assets in escrow, 
pending receipt of certain receivables by NorAmera. The Fund values its cash held in escrow at 
cost. The Fund believes that the amount of the receivables that will be received by NorAmera will 
be equal to the amount held in escrow, and therefore the Fund has not taken an allowance on 
the Funds held in escrow. If the Fund feels that the probability of receipt of the receivables has 
decreased, it will take an appropriate amount for an allowance.

 12. Loss support program contribution

As a result of an investment transaction made in respect of the Class I shares, the Fund has 
received a loss support program contribution from Western Economic Diversification Canada 
(“WED”) representing 20% of the cost of the investment. As there has been no loss recognized 
in respect of the investment as at August 31, 2010, the full amount of the loss support program 
contribution is considered repayable to WED as per the terms of the program. Details of the loss 
support program are contained in the Fund’s Prospectus.

 13. Financial instruments 

The Fund’s Class A assets and liabilities classified in accordance with Section 3862 are as follows:

Assets

 Held for trading   $ 162,679

 Loans and receivables    3,887

 Total assets   $ 166,566

Liabilities

 Financial liabilities at amortized cost   $ 8,028

 Net assets   $ 158,538

The Fund’s Class I assets and liabilities classified in accordance with Section 3862 are as follows:

Assets

 Held for trading   $ 3,060

 Loans and receivables    17

 Total assets   $ 3,077

Liabilities

 Financial liabilities at amortized cost   $ 64

 Net assets   $ 3,013
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 13. Financial instruments (continued)

Fair value of assets and liabilities using the fair value hierarchy
The following table presents the financial instruments measured at fair value classified by the fair 
value hierarchy set out in Section 3862 as described in Note 2:

 Class A
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets
 Held for Trading
  Cash and marketable securities $ 31,195 $ – $ – $ 31,195
  Venture investments,  
     at fair value  24,805  55,323  51,356  131,484
   $ 56,000 $ 55,323 $ 51,356 $ 162,679
 Loans and receivables
  Other $ 3,887 $ – $ – $ 3,887

   $ 3,887 $ – $ – $ 3,887
Financial liabilities
  Other $ 8,028 $ – $ – $ 8,028

   $ 8,028 $ – $ – $ 8,028

Changes to Level 3
Beginning balance $ 43,282
Net purchases  11,535
Net realized gains  475
Net unrealized losses  (3,936)
Net transfer out of level 3  –
Ending balance $ 51,356

 Class I
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets
 Held for Trading
  Cash and marketable securities $ 2,760 $ – $ – $ 2,760
  Venture investments,  
     at fair value  –  300  –  300
   $ 2,760 $ 300 $ – $ 3,060
 Loans and receivables
  Other $ 17 $ – $ – $ 17

   $ 17 $ – $ – $ 17
Financial liabilities
  Other $ 64 $ – $ – $ 64

   $ 64 $ – $ – $ 64

There were no level 3 transactions for the Class I shares for the year.
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 14. Financial instruments and risk management

In the normal course of its business, the Fund will be exposed to a variety of financial risks. 
The objective of the Fund is to manage these risks while maintaining an appropriate risk/return 
balance that is consistent with the Fund’s objectives and strategies. The Fund seeks to mitigate 
these risk factors by monitoring of the Fund’s investment holdings and by diversifying the 
investment portfolio within the constraints of governing legislation. The investment objective 
of the Fund remains unchanged, to maximize shareholder returns through the long-term 
appreciation of the Fund’s pricing net asset value, while seeking to maintain an acceptable level 
of risk. Venture investments are carried at amounts in accordance with the valuation methods set 
out in Note 2. In management’s opinion, the carrying values of other financial assets and liabilities 
approximate fair value.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an 
obligation or commitment that it has entered into with the Fund. The Fund’s exposure to credit 
risk is in the area of debt instruments of its investment portfolio and the related accrued interest 
receivable. The carrying value of debt investments and related accrued interest represents 
the maximum credit risk exposure as at August 31, 2010. The Fund has disclosed the fair 
value of each debt investment in its Statement of Investment Portfolio. The Fund analyzes 
credit concentration based on the counterparty, industry and geographic location. To mitigate 
counterparty risk in regards to its debt venture investments the Fund has, where possible, secured 
its debt investments with first or subordinated charges of the assets of the investee company 
and imposed certain financial covenants on the investee companies. The Fund seeks to mitigate 
risk associated with a particular industry by investing its venture investment portfolio in a diverse 
range of industries. As at August 31, 2010, the Class A shares were invested in thirteen different 
industry sectors. Although the Class A shares’ venture investment portfolio consists primarily of 
Saskatchewan and Manitoba companies, the markets for those companies are worldwide. To 
mitigate the geographic risk, the Class A shares have invested in companies with a diverse range 
of end markets. The Class I shares have made its initial venture investment in a convertible debt 
instrument. The credit risk on this investment is mitigated by the WED loss support program 
outlined in Note 12.

The Fund seeks to mitigate credit risk in its marketable securities portfolio by investing in 
instruments with a minimum Dominion Bond rating of A or in instruments that are guaranteed by 
the Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation.
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 14. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund may not be able to settle or meet its obligations on time. 
The Fund’s exposure to liquidity risk is in regards to the redemption of its shares and operational 
requirements. The Fund has instituted a liquid reserve policy for the purpose of managing its 
liquidity risk and to ensure the Fund maintains available reserves to meet its financial obligations 
or potential obligations. Furthermore, subject to certain restrictions, the Fund is not obligated 
to redeem its shares under certain circumstances as outlined in the Fund’s Prospectus. The 
Board of Directors monitors adherence to the liquid reserve policy. As at August 31, 2010, the 
Class A shares have cash and marketable securities of $31,195 and the Class I shares have cash 
and marketable securities of $2,760. The Fund has sufficient liquid assets to meet forecasted 
redemptions for the near future and ongoing operational expenditures.

Market price risk
Market price risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate as a result  
of changes in market price (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk).  
The Fund is exposed to fluctuations in the value of its equity venture investments due to 
such risks as commodity prices or changes to the public markets. The Fund primarily invests 
Saskatchewan share capital raised in small and medium-sized Saskatchewan businesses and 
invests Manitoba share capital raised in small and medium-sized Manitoba business entities. 
Although the venture investment portfolio of the Class A shares is exposed to commodity prices 
such as oil and gas, ethanol, and agricultural commodities, the Fund seeks to mitigate this risk by 
investing in a diverse range of industries. As at August 31, 2010, the Class A shares were invested 
in thirteen different industry sectors. Although the Fund invests primarily in private companies, 
the Fund has acquired publicly traded companies through the exit of private companies and 
as a result is exposed to fluctuations in the public market. Based on fair value, publicly traded 
companies make up 18.9% of the Class A venture investment portfolio. A 10% change in the 
value of the publicly traded securities will cause a $0.21 per share or 1.6% change in the pricing 
net asset value of the Class A shares.

The Fund invests the share capital raised from the issuance of Class I shares in companies in the 
innovation sector of the Saskatchewan and Manitoba economies. Although not as diversified 
as the Class A share investments, the Fund has entered into a loss support program with WED 
aimed at supporting certain losses in investments made with funds raised through the issuance of 
Class I shares. Details of the loss support program are contained in the Fund’s Prospectus. As at 
August 31, 2010, the Class I shares were invested in one private company.

The Fund utilizes the collective experience of the Manager and the Board in guiding and 
implementing its investment strategy.
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 14. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect the value of 
interest-bearing financial instruments held in the investment portfolio. The Fund attempts to 
mitigate this risk by investing all cash and cash equivalents at short-term market interest rates. 
The Fund is also exposed to interest rate risk in relation to the change in interest income on its 
variable rate debt venture investments. The Fund has mitigated this risk by having fixed interest 
rates on 65.6% of its debt venture investments based on cost. As it is the intention of the Fund 
to hold all interest-bearing instruments to maturity, the Fund does not intend to liquidate these 
instruments under adverse market conditions.

Currency risk
Currency risk arises from financial instruments that are denominated in a currency other than 
Canadian dollars. The Fund has no exposure to currency risk as all investments of the Fund are 
denominated in Canadian currency.

 15. Capital management 

The Fund’s capital consists of issued share capital. The Manager manages the capital of the 
Fund in accordance with the Fund’s investment objectives, policies, and restrictions as outlined 
in the Fund’s Prospectus, while attempting to maintain sufficient liquidity to meet shareholder 
redemptions, operational requirements, and future venture investments. The overall strategy for 
managing capital remains unchanged from 2009. To ensure that the Fund meets its obligations, 
the Board of Directors of the Fund has established a liquid reserve policy and monitors adherence 
to that policy. As at August 31, 2010, the Class A shares had cash and marketable securities of 
$31,195 and the Class I shares had cash and marketable securities of $2,760.

The Fund is subject to the investment pacing requirements under the provisions of the 
Saskatchewan Act and the Manitoba Act. Pursuant to the Saskatchewan Act, the Fund is 
obligated, during the 24 month period following the end of the fiscal year in which the 
Saskatchewan share capital is raised, to invest and maintain at least 75% of the SK Equity 
in investment instruments issued by eligible businesses or in any other type of investment 
authorized by the Saskatchewan Act. Pursuant to the Manitoba Act, the Fund is obligated, 
during the 24 month period following the end of the fiscal year in which the MB Equity is raised, 
to invest and maintain at least 70% of the MB Equity in eligible investments issued by eligible 
business entities or in any other type of investment authorized by the Manitoba Act, and 14% of 
the MB Equity so invested must be in eligible investments for which the total cost of the eligible 
investments held by the Fund in such entity and any related entities does not exceed $2,000. As 
at August 31, 2010, the Fund was in compliance of the investment pacing requirements under 
both the Saskatchewan Act and the Manitoba Act.

As required by the Saskatchewan Act, trust monies must be set aside in a trust fund until such 
time as the Fund has met the investment requirements as set forth in the Saskatchewan Act. 
Pending release, the trust monies will be invested in investments permitted by the Saskatchewan 
Act. As at August 31, 2010, the Fund has met all investment requirements as set forth in the 
Saskatchewan Act.
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 16. Future changes in accounting standards 

International financial reporting standards
The Canadian Accounting Standards Board (“AcSB”) recently confirmed the plan to adopt the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The Fund originally expected to adopt IFRS 
on a prospective basis effective for its fiscal year beginning September 1, 2011. In October 2010, 
the AcSB amended the Introduction to Part I of the CICA Handbook – Accounting requiring the 
adoption of IFRS by investment companies as defined in and applying Accounting Guideline 18, 
Investment Companies, such that the Fund is not required to adopt IFRS on a prospective basis 
until its fiscal year beginning September 1, 2012.

The Manager continues to monitor developments in the Fund’s IFRS changeover plan including 
the recent amendment issued by the AcSB and has been assessing the likely impacts on the 
implementation decisions, financial statement preparation, internal controls and information 
systems. Based on the Manager’s preliminary analysis, the Manager believes the changeover to 
IFRS will not materially affect the Fund’s existing business arrangements.

Based on the Manager’s review of the current IFRS against the Fund’s current accounting policies 
and financial statement presentation under Canadian GAAP, it is not expected that there would 
be an impact to the Fund’s net asset value per share for either of the Class A shares or the Class I 
shares. The Manager has determined that the primary impact of IFRS on accounting policies and 
implementation decisions will be on the financial statement presentation and note disclosures in 
the Fund’s financial statements.

 17. Independent valuator

Pursuant to the independent valuation requirements of National Instrument 81-106 Investment 
Fund Continuous Disclosure as issued by the Canadian Securities Administrators, the Fund has 
engaged an independent review to assess whether or not the fair value of the Fund’s venture 
investments, as determined by the Manager is, in all material respects, reasonable. A qualified 
chartered business valuator within the valuation practice of Hergott Duval Stack LLP, the Fund’s 
independent auditor, has assisted in this review and concluded that the fair value determined by 
the Manager is, in all material respects, reasonable.

 18. Commitment

As part of a strategic partnership, the Fund has made a commitment through its Class A shares 
in the amount of $3,250 for an additional investment in Lex Energy Partners LP, a Saskatchewan 
based limited partnership investing in the oil and gas industry.

19. Comparative figures

Certain of the comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with the current  
year’s presentation.



Golden Opportunities Fund’s Board of Directors is comprised of a diverse group of highly skilled professionals  
who have extensive knowledge and expertise in a variety of industry sectors, and are leaders in the community.

Top row, from left to right:

Honourable William McKnight2,4  Chairman Treaty Commissioner for the Province of Saskatchewan

Brian L. Barber1,3  Vice Chairman Vice President, Saskatchewan, Stuart Olson Dominion Construction Ltd.

Grant J. Kook2,4  President/Chief Executive Officer/Director President and Chief Executive Officer, Westcap Mgt. Ltd.

Douglas W. Banzet1  Chief Financial Officer/Director Chief Operating Officer, Westcap Mgt. Ltd.

Bottom row, from left to right:

Donald R. Ching3  Director Retired Businessman (Formerly President and Chief Executive Officer, AREVA Resources Canada Inc.)

Bob Ellard2  Director Vice-President Facilities Management and Development, University of Calgary

Lorraine Sali4  Director Business Manager for the Sponsor, Construction and General Workers’ Union, Local 180

Thomas A. Shepherd1,3  Director Retired Businessman (Formerly Senior Vice-President, Dundee Realty Corporation)

Ronald S. Waldman  Director Chief Executive Officer, Great Western Brewing Company Limited

Golden Opportunities’ Governance

1 Audit Committee  2 Valuation Committee  3 Investment Committee  4 Governance and Nomination Committee
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